Circle Graph Obstructions

by

Edward Lee

A thesis presented to the University of Waterloo in fulfilment of the thesis requirement for the degree of Master of Mathematics in Combinatorics and Optimization

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2017

© Edward Lee, 2017

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

Abstract

In this thesis we present a self-contained proof of Bouchet's characterization of the class of circle graphs. The proof uses signed graphs and is analogous to Gerards' graphic proof of Tutte's excluded-minor characterization of the class of graphic matroids.

Acknowledgements

I am indebted to a number of individuals for which this thesis would not have been possible.

This thesis owes a lot to my family who have always been behind me every step of the way, and for which I would like to thank.

I also need to thank my friends and fellow officemates for all their support they have provided during my time in the graduate program here. I owe Justin, Sharat, Sifat, and Cedric my sanity during my first term here, and Mike, Chris, Rutger, and Sean for my sanity for the other terms.

I owe a lot to my undergraduate advisor Gord Cormack for encouraging me to pursue research in mathematics and giving me my first opportunity to do so.

I extend my gratitude to my readers, Bruce Richter and Bertrand Guenin, for their helpful feedback and commentary. This thesis contains far fewer errors because of that feedback.

Most of all, however, I am indebted to Jim Geelen, not only for seeing me through this thesis, but more importantly, for all the help he has been during my years as an undergraduate and graduate student at this university. Jim has been a wonderful source of advice of both a mathematical and a non-mathematical nature, and for that I offer him my respect, trust, and friendship.

Table of Contents

List of Figures

1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	Vertex Minors and Circle Graphs	2
	1.2	Circle Graphs and Planar Graphs	4
	1.3	Four Regular Graphs	6
	1.4	Prime Decompositions	8
	1.5	Extended Representations	11
	1.6	A Key Lemma	14
	1.7	Bouchet's Theorem	15
2	Sig	ned Tour Graphs	17
	2.1	Finding Odd- K_5	18
	2.2	Immersion-Minor-Minimal Graphs	24
3	Pre	liminaries	38
	3.1	Vertex Minors	38
	3.2	Rank Inequalities	41
4	Ger	nerating Prime Graphs	43
	4.1	Cut Rank	43

	4.2	Vertex Minors and Splits	46		
	4.3	Building a Prime Graph	48		
	4.4	Internally Six-Edge Connected Tour Graphs	53		
5	5 Extended Representations				
	5.1	Extended Chord Diagrams	58		
	5.2	Characterizing Obstructions	61		
6	Bou	chet's Theorem	62		
Re	References				

List of Figures

1.1	Excluded Vertex Minors – W_5 , F_7 , and W_7
1.2	$G, G * 4 * 5 \smallsetminus 4, \text{ and } G * 5 * 4 \smallsetminus 4. \dots 3$
1.3	Two locally equivalent graphs: G and $G * 5 \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 3$
1.4	A Chord Diagram and its Circle Graph
1.5	\mathcal{C} and $\mathcal{C} * 5$
1.6	G and $F(G,T)$; T given by thick green edges
1.7	Planar Graph to a Bipartite Chord Diagram – An Illustration 6
1.8	A Chord Diagram C with Associated Four-Regular Graph R
1.9	$\mathcal{C} * 5$
1.10	Inequivalent Chord Diagrams
1.11	Inequivalent Tour Graphs 10
1.12	$G, G \downarrow Y, \text{ and } G \downarrow X \dots \dots$
1.13	Chord diagrams for $G \downarrow Y$, $G \downarrow X$ and G
1.14	Even Signed Tour Graph $(K_5, E(K_5))$ – Thick Red Edges are Odd 13
1.15	A Chord Diagram
1.16	Signed Graph $R(W_7)$ – Thick Red Edges are Odd
1.17	Signed Graph $R(F_7)$ – Thick Red Edges are Odd
2.1	Balanced Two-Edge Cut
2.2	Balanced Four-Edge Cut
2.3	Three Cuts of R

2.4	Parallel Edges between R_1 and R_2 – Odd Cuts	23
2.5	Odd K_5	24
2.6	Circuits C and D	28
2.7	$\triangle' = \{b, c, d\}, \ \triangle = \{a, b, d\}, \text{ and } C = \dots e, b, a, d, f \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots$	30
2.8	$X(\mathbb{Z}_9, \{\pm 1, \pm 3\})$	31
2.9	Counterexample on Eight Vertices. Odd triangles drawn in thick red, C drawn in blue	32
2.10	Counterexample on Eight Vertices - Case 1	33
2.11	Counterexample on Eight Vertices - Case 2	33
2.12	Octahedral Graph.	34
2.13	Circulant $X(\mathbb{Z}_7, \{\pm 1, \pm 2\})$	35
2.14	Postman's Work Day Graph	35
2.15	An alternate drawing of $X(\mathbb{Z}_7, \{\pm 1, \pm 2\})$.	36
3.1	Pivoting G at vw ; crossed edges are complemented	41
4.1	Small Splits in a Connected Graph	47
4.2	An Envelope	49
4.3	R, T, \mathcal{C} , and a four-edge cut of R	55
4.4	Edge in Three Triangles	55
4.5	Complement of the Cube	57

Chapter 1

Introduction

A *circle graph* is the intersection graph of chords on a circle. De Frayessix [7] gave a natural correspondence between circle graphs and planar graphs; see Section 1.2. By his result, characterizations of the class of circle graphs can give rise to characterizations of the class of planar graphs.

Bouchet [1] characterized the class of circle graphs by a list of excluded vertex minors; see Figure 1.1 for that list, and see Section 1.1 for the definition of vertex minors. Not only is Bouchet's theorem analogous to Kuratowski's theorem for planar graphs, but via De Frayessix's theorem, one can derive Kuratowski's theorem as a consequence of Bouchet's characterization; see [9].

Theorem 1.0.1 (Bouchet [1]). A simple graph is a circle graph if and only if it does not contain a vertex minor isomorphic to W_5 , F_7 , or W_7 .



Figure 1.1: Excluded Vertex Minors $-W_5$, F_7 , and W_7

Bouchet's original proof is long and relies on non-trivial connectivity results from isotropic systems. In this thesis we give a self-contained proof of Bouchet's Theorem using tools developed in graph theory since Bouchet's proof was first published in 1991. Our proof is inspired by Gerards' proof of Tutte's excluded minor characterization of the class of graphic matroids – see [10].

There has been considerable recent interest in vertex-minor closed classes of graphs. For example, Geelen recently conjectured that every proper vertex-minor closed class of graphs is chi-bounded; that is, the chromatic number of each graph is bounded above by a function of its clique number. This was known to hold for circle graphs; see Gyráfás in [11]. More recently, Dvořák and Král and Choi, Kwon, Oum, and Wollan have proved anagulous results for graphs with bounded rank-width and graphs excluding a wheel vertex-minor in [6] and [4] respectively. Vertex minors also arise in quantum computation – see Van den Nest, Dehaene, and De Moor in [19].

The class of circle graphs is believed to play a similar role for vertex minors that the class of planar graphs play for graph minors, which we discuss in Section 1.2.

1.1 Vertex Minors and Circle Graphs

Let G be a simple graph. For a vertex v, we let N(v) denote the set of vertices adjacent to v in G. For a subset $S \subseteq V(G)$, we let $N(S) = (\bigcup_{v \in S} N(v)) \setminus S$; this is the set of vertices adjacent to S in G. The graph G * v obtained by *locally complementing* at v is constructed from G by replacing G[N(v)] in G with its complementary graph; see Figure 1.3 for an example. Two graphs G and H over the same vertex set are *locally equivalent* if one can be obtained from the other by some sequence of local complementations. We say that F is a *vertex minor* of G if F is isomorphic to some graph obtained from G by a sequence of local complementations and vertex deletions. Note that the order these operations are performed in matters. For example, in Figure 1.2, $G * 4 * 5 \leq 4$ is the complete graph on four vertices, whereas $G * 5 * 4 \leq 4$ is the graph on four isolated vertices; these two graphs are not locally equivalent.

A chord diagram \mathcal{C} is a drawing of a unit circle and some labeled straight-line chords $C(\mathcal{C})$ with disjoint ends on the unit circle in \mathbb{R}^2 . An arc of a chord diagram is an arc of the circle between the ends of two chords that does not intersect a third. We view chords as labeled subsets of \mathbb{R}^2 . Given a chord diagram, its intersection graph $IG(\mathcal{C})$ is a graph $(C(\mathcal{C}), E(\mathcal{C}))$ where $E(\mathcal{C}) = \{\{c, d\} : c, d \in C(\mathcal{C}), c \cap d \neq \emptyset\}$. A circle graph is the intersection graph of the chords of some chord diagram; see Figure 1.4 for an example.

The intersection structure of a chord diagram can be recovered from the order its chords appear on a clockwise walk on a circle. Note that two chords x and y of a chord diagram



Figure 1.2: $G, G * 4 * 5 \le 4$, and $G * 5 * 4 \le 4$.



Figure 1.3: Two locally equivalent graphs: G and G * 5



Figure 1.4: A Chord Diagram and its Circle Graph

C cross if and only if they appear in interlaced order on a walk around C – that is, first x then y then x then y.

This allows us to define an alternate representation for chord diagrams. From every chord diagram \mathcal{C} , we can obtain a *double occurrence word* T of labels of \mathcal{C} by writing down the labels of chords of \mathcal{C} as their ends are encountered starting from an arbitrary point on the circle. Two double occurrence words are *equivalent* if they are equal modulo string reversal and rotation, that is:

$$(w_1, w_2, \ldots, w_n)$$
 is equivalent to $(w_n, w_{n-1}, \ldots, w_1)$, and (w_1, w_2, \ldots, w_n) is equivalent to $(w_2, w_3, \ldots, w_n, w_1)$.

Note that the set of all possible double occurrence words that can be obtained from a chord diagram via this construction forms an equivalence class of double occurrence words. Furthermore, from a chord diagram and a double occurrence word for it, we can recover a chord diagram that shares the same intersection structure as the original by writing down the double occurrence word around a circle and drawing chords between equal labels. As we are only concerned about the combinatorial intersection structure of a chord diagram in this thesis, we say two chord diagrams are *equivalent* if they share the same set of double occurrence words.

Let c be a chord in a chord diagram C. The chord diagram C * c is constructed from C by reversing the order in which chords appear in C on one side of c; see Figure 1.5 for an example. Note that this operation does not affect any chords that did not cross c, and



Figure 1.5: C and C * 5

for two chords c_1 and c_2 that cross c, we have that c_1 and c_2 cross in C if and only if they do not in C * c, which corresponds to local complementation in the circle graph given by IG(C). This result was first observed by Kotzig.

Lemma 1.1.1 (Kotzig [14]). $IG(\mathcal{C}) * c = IG(\mathcal{C} * c)$.

Hence the class of circle graphs is closed under local complementation, and thus vertex minors.

1.2 Circle Graphs and Planar Graphs

To illustrate the connection between circle graphs and planar graphs, we must first go through a construction known as the *fundamental graph*. The *fundamental graph* F(G,T)of a graph G relative to a spanning forest T of G is the bipartite graph over the edges of G given by the bipartition $(E(T), E(G) \setminus E(T))$ where an edge $t \in E(T)$ is adjacent to an



Figure 1.6: G and F(G, T); T given by thick green edges.

edge $e \in E(G) \setminus E(T)$ in F(G,T) if and only if the fundamental cycle of e in T contains t. Figure 1.6 gives an example of a graph G and its fundamental graph F(G,T) for a chosen spanning tree T.

De Frayessix [7] gave a natural correspondence between fundamental graphs of plane graphs and bipartite chord diagrams. Starting from a connected planar graph G already embedded in the plane, and a spanning tree T of G, one may construct a chord diagram by:

- 1. drawing a simple closed circle "conforming" to T,
- 2. replacing T with "perpendicular" chords, and finally by
- 3. flipping the edges in $E(G) \setminus T$ into the interior of the circle,

as illustrated in Figure 1.7. Note that the chords corresponding to the spanning tree edges only cross the chords corresponding to non-spanning tree edges if and only if the spanning tree edge is in the fundamental cycle of the non-spanning tree edge. This proves the following result of De Frayessix.

Theorem 1.2.1 (De Frayessix [7]). Let G be a simple bipartite graph. Then G is a circle graph if and only if G is a fundamental graph of some planar graph.

One can also obtain the following result characterizing circle graphs through De Frayessix's result characterizing bipartite circle graphs.



Figure 1.7: Planar Graph to a Bipartite Chord Diagram – An Illustration

Theorem 1.2.2 (Folklore). Let G be a simple graph. Then G is a circle graph if and only if G is a vertex minor of a fundamental graph of some planar graph.

Fundamental graphs also illustrate an interesting connection between minors of graphs and vertex minors. For example, for any graph G, the fundamental graph F(G/t, T/t) is isomorphic to $F(G, T) \\ t$. Similarly, the fundamental graph $F(G, T\Delta\{t, e\})$ for a spanning tree edge t and an edge e whose fundamental cycle contains t is given by $F(G, T) \\ t \\ e \\ t$. By these two results one can obtain the following result connecting minors and vertex minors.

Lemma 1.2.3 (Bouchet). Let F and G be two graphs, and let T_F and T_G be spanning forests for F and G respectively. Then F is a minor of G if and only if $F(F, T_F)$ is a vertex minor of $F(G, T_G)$.

As these results are not important for our proof of Bouchet's Theorem we will omit proofs for them.

1.3 Four Regular Graphs

Vertex minors are not as easy to work with as minors; as seen previously, local complementations and vertex deletions do not necessarily commute. Fortunately, we can encode a local equivalence class of circle graphs as the set of Eulerian tours of an associated connected four-regular graph R. Let C be any chord diagram representing a circle graph G. From C we may construct a connected four-regular graph R; take the chords of C to be the vertices of R and the arcs of C to be the edges of R, and T to be a double occurrence word for C. Note that T gives an Eulerian tour of R as the arcs of C are the edges of R. For example, in Figure 1.8, the canonical tour would be given by the double occurrence word (5, 4, 1, 3, 2, 1, 2, 5, 4, 3). We call R the *tour graph* associated with C, and we will use R(C) to refer to it. Note that T completely determines R. We say that T is a *tour* of R.

Conversely, a tour T of a four-regular graph R gives rise to a double occurrence word, as every vertex is visited twice in T. Hence we may obtain a chord diagram from a tour T of a four regular graph R.



Figure 1.8: A Chord Diagram \mathcal{C} with Associated Four-Regular Graph R.

Locally complementing at a vertex v in G is equivalent to switching the transition of our tour at the vertex v in R. For example, in C * 5, shown in Figure 1.9, the canonical Eulerian tour would be given by (5, 4, 1, 3, 2, 1, 2, 5, 3, 4). Hence locally equivalent chord diagrams correspond to different Euler tours of the same underlying tour graph R.

Conversely, any two tours of a given connected four-regular graph R correspond to locally equivalent circle graphs.

Lemma 1.3.1 (Kotzig [13]). Let T_1 and T_2 be two tours of a connected four-regular graph R. Then the corresponding chord diagrams C_1 and C_2 are locally equivalent.



Figure 1.9: C * 5

Proof. Proceed by induction on the number of transitions for which T_1 and T_2 disagree. If there are no disagreements, then $T_1 = T_2$ and hence $C_1 = C_2$, as desired.

Otherwise, there is a vertex v for which T_1 and T_2 disagree. Let T'_1 be the tour for $C_1 * v$ and T'_2 be the tour for $C_2 * v$. Now as R is four-regular, there are only three possible transitions at v in R. Hence one of T_1 or T'_1 is equal to one of T_2 or T'_2 . By induction, the corresponding chord diagrams are locally equivalent and hence C_1 is locally equivalent to C_2 , as desired.

Henceforth we will say a *tour graph* R is a connected four-regular graph. Note that tour graphs need not be simple; the tour graph for the chord diagram on a single isolated chord is a vertex is a vertex incident to two loops.

Deletion in a circle graph also gives rise to a notion of vertex removal in a tour graph R. For a chord $c \in C(\mathcal{C})$, to *split off* at c is to remove c and to identify the (two) pairs of ends of edges of R incident to c. Whenever we would identify the two ends of a loop together we simply delete the loop. Observe that there are only three ways to pair up the four ends of edges incident to c; one can show that these correspond to the three ways that a vertex can be removed up to local equivalence in any given graph G. For two four-regular graphs S and R, we say that S is an *immersion minor* of R if S is isomorphic to a graph obtained from R by splitting off vertices of R. With the above observation on splitting off vertices, this notion captures the vertex-minor relation between two circle graphs; given an circle graph G with tour graph R_G , and an circle graph H with tour graph R_H , if R_H is an immersion minor of G.

1.4 Prime Decompositions

A circle graph may have multiple inequivalent chord diagram representations; this should not be too surprising, as we have a correspondence between bipartite chord diagrams and fundamental graphs of plane graphs, and planar graphs may have inequivalent plane embeddings. This is awkward as in a proof of Bouchet's Theorem (or any proof of an excludedminors theorem), one would like to characterize those vertex minor-minimal graphs F for which a chord diagram representation of $F \\ v$ cannot be extended to a chord diagram for F. The difficulty lies in the fact that $F \\ v$ may have multiple inequivalent representations, so we may need to analyze them all. When one proves Kuratowski's Theorem, one solves this problem by proving three lemmas; one which states that simple 3-connected planar graphs have only one plane embedding up to homotopy in the sphere, Tutte's wheels theorem for decomposing 3-connected planar graphs, and one which states minor-minimal



Figure 1.10: Inequivalent Chord Diagrams

non-planar graphs must be 3-connected and simple. In this section we introduce similar machinery for circle graphs and vertex minors.

For a subset of vertices A of a graph G, we say the *edge cut* defined by A, to be $\delta(A) = \{e \in E(G) : e \text{ is incident to a vertex in } A\} \setminus E(G[A])$. A *split* of a graph G is a bipartition (A, B) of V(G) where $G[\delta(A)]$ is a complete bipartite graph and $|A| \ge 2$ and $|B| \ge 2$; see Cunningham [5]. We say a graph G is *prime* if it contains no splits.

The following result of Cunningham illustrates the connection between splits and 3connectivity. As we will not use this result, we will not prove it.

Lemma 1.4.1 (Cunningham [5]). Let G be a graph and F(G,T) be a fundamental graph for G. Then G is simple and 3-connected if and only F(G,T) is prime.

Splits, like two-separations in planar graphs, pose an obstruction for unique representability. This is best illustrated by an example; Figure 1.10 illustrates two chord diagrams for the circle graph K_5 . Note that K_5 has many splits; for instance, the bipartition $(\{1, 2, 5\}, \{3, 4\})$. However, these diagrams are inequivalent as they give different labeled tour graphs, as shown in Figure 1.11. The problem is that we can flip the order in which 3 and 4 appeared on the chord diagram and in the tour graph, as $(\{1, 2, 5\}, \{3, 4\})$ was a split. This is similar to the the problem two-separations pose in planar graphs, in which a face can be "flipped" to be embedded on one side or on the other side of a two-separation.

Fortunately splits are the only obstruction to unique representability, and vertex-minorminimal non-circle graphs are split-free. To see this, we will introduce some more notation. The graph $G \downarrow X$, for $X \subseteq V(G)$, is formed by identifying X down to a single vertex; formally we construct it from G by deleting X and adding a new vertex that is adjacent to the vertices in $N(X) \cap Y$; this is illustrated in Figure 1.12. Circle graphs decompose over splits; from a chord diagram for $G \downarrow Y$ and a chord diagram for $G \downarrow X$ we may construct a



Figure 1.11: Inequivalent Tour Graphs



Figure 1.12: $G, G \downarrow Y$, and $G \downarrow X$

chord diagram for G by overlaying the two diagrams; the proof of this result is illustrated in Figure 1.13.

Lemma 1.4.2 (Bouchet [1], Naji [15], and Gabor, Hsu, and Supowit [8]). Let G be a graph with a split (X, Y). Then G is a circle graph if and only if both $G \downarrow X$ and $G \downarrow Y$ are circle graphs.

Since $G \downarrow X$ and $G \downarrow Y$ are both isomorphic to induced subgraphs of G for a split (X, Y), excluded vertex-minors of the class of circle graphs are prime. One can show that circle graphs that are prime have exactly one chord diagram up to equivalence; the proof is a straightforward inductive argument using Lemma 1.4.5.

Lemma 1.4.3 (Bouchet [1], Naji [15], and Gabor, Hsu, and Supowit [8]). Let G be a circle graph. If G is prime, then G has an unique chord diagram C representing it.

We also obtain decomposition tools for the tour graph R, via the following observation. A tour graph R is *internally six-edge connected* if it is four edge connected and any fouredge cut splits R into at most two connected components, where one side has at most one



Figure 1.13: Chord diagrams for $G \downarrow Y$, $G \downarrow X$ and G

vertex. As R is Eulerian, there are no five-edge cuts. We prove the following correspondence between prime circle graphs and internally six-edge connected four regular graphs in Chapter 4. A *tour graph* for a circle graph G is a tour graph for a chord diagram for G.

Lemma 1.4.4 (Bouchet [1]). Let G be a circle graph with tour graph R. Then G is prime if and only if R is internally six-edge connected.

The following result is akin to Tutte's Wheels Theorem for 3-connected simple graphs; we prove this in Chapter 4.

Lemma 1.4.5 (Bouchet [3]). Let G be a prime graph. Either G is locally equivalent to C_5 or there is a graph G' locally equivalent to G such that $G' \setminus v$ is prime for some vertex $v \in V(G)$.

1.5 Extended Representations

By Lemmas 1.4.2 and 1.4.5 we know that the vertex-minor-minimal non-circle graphs are prime, and there is a vertex which we can remove to obtain a prime circle graph. In light of this fact we would like a succinct way to describe single vertex extensions of circle graphs; to this end we introduce hyperchords. A hyperchord Σ for a chord diagram C is an even subset of the arcs of C. Every chord in a chord diagram C partitions the set of arcs into two parts – those on one side of c in C and those on the other. Hence every chord partitions a hyperchord Σ into two parts. We say a hyperchord Σ crosses a chord c of C if the partition c induces in Σ consists of two parts of odd size. An arc is odd if it is in Σ , even otherwise.

This notion of a hyperchord is a natural generalization of that of a chord; note that when $|\Sigma| = 2$, a hyperchord Σ can be replaced with a simple chord crossing the same set of chords as Σ , by drawing a new chord with one end in one odd arc and the other end in the

other odd arc. From an extended chord diagram (\mathcal{C}, Σ) we obtain an *extended circle graph* $\mathrm{IG}(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma)$, by adding a new vertex v for the hyperchord Σ to $\mathrm{IG}(\mathcal{C})$ where v is adjacent to c if and only if c crosses Σ . As it turns out, this construction is rather useful, as it captures the structure of single-vertex extensions of circle graphs; we give a proof of this result in Chapter 5.

Lemma 1.5.1 (Bouchet [1]). Every single-vertex extension of a circle graph is an extended circle graph.

Note that deletion carries through to extended circle graphs; when deleting a chord, simply merge adjacent arcs preserving parity. Likewise, this notion of a extended chord diagram behaves well with respect to local complementation, so long as it is not the extension vertex being locally complemented.

Lemma 1.5.2. Let $H = IG(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma)$, and let c be a chord of \mathcal{C} . Then $H * c = IG(\mathcal{C} * c, \Sigma)$.

We would like to relate the structure a hyperchord Σ has in relation to a chord diagram \mathcal{C} to the underlying tour graph R for \mathcal{C} . As before, an extended chord diagram is hard to work with; we would like a succinct way to describe the combinatorial structure of an extended chord diagram. First note that as Σ is a subset of the arcs of \mathcal{C} , Σ is a subset of the edges of R, as the edges of R are the arcs of \mathcal{C} .

Furthermore, two hyperchords Σ_1 and Σ_2 over \mathcal{C} which give rise to the same extended circle graph G are related by cuts of the tour graph R. Again, we give a proof of this result in Chapter 5.

Lemma 1.5.3 (Bouchet [1]). Let Σ_1 and Σ_2 be two hyperchords of some chord diagram C. If $IG(C, \Sigma_1) = IG(C, \Sigma_2)$, then $\Sigma_1 \Delta \Sigma_2$ is a cut of R(C). Morever, for any cut X of R(C), $IG(C, \Sigma_1) = IG(C, \Sigma_1 \Delta X)$.

This combinatorial structure is exactly that described by a signed graph over R. A signed graph (G, Σ) is a graph G equipped with a special subset of edges $\Sigma \subseteq E(G)$; two signed graphs (G_1, Σ_1) and (G_2, Σ_2) are equivalent if $G_1 = G_2$ and $\Sigma_1 \Delta \Sigma_2$ is a cut of G_1 . A signature of a signed graph (G, Σ) is any set Σ' for which $\Sigma' \Delta \Sigma$ is a cut. An edge is odd if it is in Σ , and even otherwise. A signed tour graph is a signed graph over a tour graph with an even-sized signature. As cuts of a tour graph have even size, this is well defined.

By this there is a correspondence between extended circle graphs $IG(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma)$ and signed tour graphs with an Eulerian tour (R, Σ, T) ; Σ is simply the hyperchord that we extend \mathcal{C} by, and T is the tour to take on R to get \mathcal{C} . Henceforth we say $IG(R, \Sigma, T)$ is the extended



Figure 1.14: Even Signed Tour Graph $(K_5, E(K_5))$ – Thick Red Edges are Odd.

circle graph given by $IG(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma)$ where \mathcal{C} is the chord diagram given by (R, T). An example is illustrative here; Figure 1.14 depicts the even signed tour graph $(K_5, E(K_5))$. Taken with the tour T = (5, 4, 1, 5, 2, 1, 3, 2, 4, 5), one obtains the extended chord diagram $(\mathcal{C}, E(K_5))$, where every arc of \mathcal{C} is odd; \mathcal{C} is shown in Figure 1.15. As every chord crosses the hyperchord, the resulting extended circle graph $IG(R, \Sigma, T) = IG(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma)$ is the graph with a 5-cycle and an additional vertex adjacent to every vertex on the 5-cycle; namely the 5-wheel W_5 . Note that W_5 is one of the three obstructions in Bouchet's Theorem; the other two obstructions, W_7 and F_7 , have representations as signed tour graphs depicted in Figures 1.16 and 1.17 respectively.



Figure 1.15: A Chord Diagram

Lemmas 1.5.2 and 1.5.3, restated in terms of even signed tour graphs, state the following.

Lemma 1.5.4 (Bouchet [1]). Let $H = IG(R, \Sigma, T)$, and let c be a vertex of R. Then $H * c = IG(R, \Sigma, T')$, for some Eulerian tour T' of R. Conversely, for two Eulerian tours T and T' of R, $IG(R, \Sigma, T)$ and $IG(R, \Sigma, T')$ are locally equivalent.

Lemma 1.5.5 (Bouchet [1]). Let Σ_1 and Σ_2 be two even sized subsets of edges of a tour graph R with tour T. If $IG(R, \Sigma_1, T) = IG(R, \Sigma_2, T)$, then the two signed graphs (R, Σ_1)

and (R, Σ_2) are equivalent. Moreover, for two equivalent signed graphs (R, Σ_1) and (R, Σ_2) , $IG(R, \Sigma_1, T) = IG(R, \Sigma_2, T)$.

Now by Lemma 1.5.5, an extended circle graph $IG(R, \Sigma, T)$ is a circle graph if there is a cut X of $R(\mathcal{C})$ such that $\Sigma \Delta X$ has size at most two, which is equivalent to saying (R, Σ) has a signature Σ' of size two or less. Unfortunately the converse is not always true; there is a difficulty here in that a circle graph can have inequivalent representations, and hence inequivalent tour graph representations for which one which may admit an extension but the other may not. We sidestep this difficulty by restricting ourselves to only considering extensions of circle graphs with unique representations; note that prime circle graphs have unique representations, and by Lemma 1.4.5, an excluded vertex-minor for the class of circle graphs admits a representation as an extension of a prime circle graph.

Lemma 1.5.6 (Bouchet [1]). Let (R, Σ) be a internally six-edge connected even signed tour graph. Then $IG(R, \Sigma, T)$ is a circle graph if and only if (R, Σ) has a signature of size 0 or 2.

We give proofs for all three of the above lemmas in Chapter 5.

1.6 A Key Lemma

With Lemma 1.5.6 in mind, we would like to characterize those four-regular signed graphs which cannot be resigned to signatures containing only two edges.

A cycle of (R, Σ) is *odd* if it has an odd number of odd edges. Every odd cycle of (R, Σ) will intersect every signature of (R, Σ) in an odd number of odd edges, as cuts intersect cycles in even parity. Hence one obstruction is having three edge-disjoint odd cycles, as each odd cycle has at least one odd edge. Another obstruction is the graph odd- K_5 , which is the signed graph given by $(K_5, E(K_5))$ – any equivalent signed graph will have at least four odd edges.

Both splits and immersions lift up to signed four-regular tour graphs; when we identify two edges together to get an edge in the immersion minor, we also preserve parity. Two odd edges and two even edges will be identified to a single even edge, and an odd edge and an even edge will be identified to an odd edge in the immersion minor. Note that given two extended circle graphs $G = IG(R_G, \Sigma_G, T_G)$ and $H = IG(R_H, \Sigma_H, T_H)$ if (R_H, Σ_H) is an immersion minor of (R_G, Σ_G) , then H is a vertex-minor of G.

With these two ideas in mind, we prove the following new lemma, which is a key step towards our proof of Bouchet's Theorem. **Lemma 1.6.1.** Let (R, Σ) be a loopless signed tour graph. Then either:

- There is a cut C of R such that $|\Sigma \Delta C| \leq 2$, or
- (R, Σ) has 3 edge-disjoint odd circuits, or
- (R, Σ) has an odd- K_5 immersion minor.

1.7 Bouchet's Theorem

By Lemmas 1.4.2 and 1.5.1 we have that a minimal non-circle graph G admits a representation as a signed internally-six-edge connected tour graph with tour (R, Σ, T) . By Lemma 1.6.1 we have that either (R, Σ) packs three edge-disjoint odd circuits or it has an odd- K_5 -immersion minor. We have already seen above that odd- K_5 with the appropriate tour is a representation of the 5-wheel W_5 , so we are done in this case.

Otherwise, (R, Σ) admits a packing of three edge-disjoint odd circuits C_1 , C_2 , and C_3 . Eulerian graphs admit a decomposition into edge-disjoint circuits; in particular, $R \setminus (C_1 \cup C_2 \cup C_3)$ is Eulerian. As we deleted an odd number of odd edges, there are still an odd number of odd edges remaining, so there is at least one more odd circuit remaining in $R \setminus (C_1 \cup C_2 \cup C_3)$ Hence three edge-disjoint odd circuits give rise to four for free, so R admits a packing of four edge-disjoint odd circuits \mathcal{P} . As every proper vertex minor of G is a circle graph, (R, Σ) is immersion-minor-minimal with respect to being both internally six-edge connected and having a packing of four-edge disjoint odd circuits.

We prove this new key lemma characterizing immersion-minor-minimal internally sixedge-connected graphs packing four edge-disjoint odd circuits.

Lemma 1.7.1. If (R, Σ) is an signed immersion-minor-minimal internally-six-edgeconnected tour graph packing four edge-disjoint odd circuits with then

- |V(R)| = 6 and (R, Σ) is equivalent to $R(W_7)$, as shown in Figure 1.16, or
- |V(R)| = 7 and (R, Σ) is equivalent to $R(F_7)$, as shown in Figure 1.17.

Bouchet's Theorem then follows as a direct consequence of Lemmas 1.7.1 and 1.6.1; by these Lemmas, if (R, Σ) represents a minimal non-circle graph without an odd- K_5 immersion minor, then (R, Σ) can be resigned to $R(F_7)$ or $R(W_7)$. Now, $R(F_7)$ with the tour (1, 6, 2, 1, 3, 2, 1, 3, 5, 4, 6, 5, 1) gives a representation for F_7 , and $R(W_7)$ with the



Figure 1.16: Signed Graph $R(W_7)$ – Thick Red Edges are Odd.



Figure 1.17: Signed Graph $R(F_7)$ – Thick Red Edges are Odd.

tour (1, 7, 2, 1, 3, 2, 4, 3, 5, 4, 6, 5, 7, 6, 1) gives a representation for W_7 . Hence we have the vertex-minor minimal non-circle graphs are locally equivalent to one of W_5 , W_7 , or F_7 , as desired.

Chapter 2

Signed Tour Graphs

We start by proving our two new results characterizing signed tour graphs that cannot be resigned to a signature with at most two odd edges. Recall that a signed tour graph is a even signed graph (R, Σ) where R is a tour graph. Recall that a tour graph R is a four-regular connected graph.

The following two lemmas are useful when working with four-regular signed graphs.

Lemma 2.0.1. Let (R, Σ) be a signed tour graph, and let (R', Σ') be an immersion minor of (R, Σ) . If (R', Σ') has at least c edge-disjoint odd circuits, then so does (R, Σ) .

Proof. Let \mathcal{P}' be a packing of c edge-disjoint odd circuits of (R', Σ') . Now the preimage of a signed graph under a split is obtained by subdividing two edges preserving parity followed by identifying the resulting vertices. Hence the preimage of an edge-disjoint odd-circuit packing is an edge-disjoint odd circuit packing, as desired.

Lemma 2.0.2. Let v be a vertex in a four-regular signed graph (R, Σ) . If every signature of (R, Σ) has at least n odd edges, then any graph obtained by splitting off at v has at least n-2 edges in its signature.

Proof. We may assume without loss of generality that v has at most two odd edges incident to it in (R, Σ) . Let (R', Σ') be the resulting graph obtained by splitting off at v in (R, Σ) . Let e and f be the resulting identified edges. Now (R, Σ) can be obtained by (R', Σ') by subdividing e and f, possibly resigning at one of the two new vertices, and identifying the two new vertices. This adds at most two edges to the signature, as desired.

2.1 Finding Odd- K_5

Recall that odd- K_5 is the signed graph $(K_5, E(K_5))$. A balanced subgraph H of a fourregular signed graph (R, Σ) is a subgraph such that H does not contain any odd circuit of (R, Σ) . Note that balanced subgraphs are invariant under resigning and that there is a resigning of (R, Σ) to (R, Σ') such that $|E[H] \cap \Sigma'| = 0$; see [12] for a proof. A 1-separation of a graph G is a partition of the vertex set of G into two parts (A, B) such that $|A \cap B| = 1$. The common vertex of a 1-separation (A, B) is the one vertex in $A \cap B$. For two disjoint subsets of vertices A and B of a graph R, we say that $\delta(A, B)$ is the set of edges linking Aand B; namely, $\delta(A, B) = \{\{a, b\} \in E(R) : a \in A, b \in B\}$.

We obtain the following lemma:

Lemma 2.1.1. Let (R, Σ) be a loopless four-regular signed graph with at least α odd edges in every signature, with $\alpha \leq 4$, and $\alpha \equiv |\Sigma| \pmod{2}$. Then either:

- (R, Σ) has α edge-disjoint odd circuits, or
- (R, Σ) has an odd- K_5 as an immersion minor.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. Let (R, Σ) be a counterexample with |V(R)| minimal. By repeatedly splitting off vertices with Lemma 2.0.2 we may assume without loss of generality that $|\Sigma| \leq 4$. As (R, Σ) is a counterexample we may assume that $|\Sigma| = \alpha$. As an Eulerian graph with a single odd edge contains an odd closed walk, namely the tour itself, and hence an odd circuit, we may assume without loss of generality $\alpha > 1$.

Claim 2.1.2. There is no partition of V(R) into (A, B) with both $|\delta(A)| = 2$ and R[A] balanced.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. Resign (R, Σ) to (R, Σ') such that $|E(R[A]) \cap \Sigma'| = 0$. Let $F = \{e, f\} = \delta(A)$. We may assume without loss of generality that $F \not\subseteq \Sigma'$ by resigning through F. We may also assume that $f \notin \Sigma'$, again by resigning through F if necessary. As R admits an Eulerian tour, we may split apart the vertices in R[A] following the transition the tour uses to identify $R[A] \cup F$ to e. As splitting preserves the parity of edges, and as f was not an odd edge, we have that the resulting signed graph is given by (R', Σ') . As (R', Σ') is an immersion minor of (R, Σ') , it cannot have odd- K_5 as an immersion minor. Now as any cut of R' lifts to a cut of R with the same cardinality, we have that every signature of (R', Σ') has at least α many odd edges. Therefore



Figure 2.1: Balanced Two-Edge Cut



Figure 2.2: Balanced Four-Edge Cut

 (R', Σ') has α edge-disjoint odd circuits, and therefore so does (R, Σ) by Lemma 2.0.1, a contradiction, as desired.

Claim 2.1.3. There is no partition of V(R) into (A, B) with both |A| > 1, |B| > 1, $|\delta(A)| = 4$ and R[A] balanced.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. Resign (R, Σ) to (R, Σ') such that $|E(R[A]) \cap \Sigma'| = 0$. As R[A] is balanced, by Claim 2.1.2 we have there is no two-edge cut in R[A]. Let $\{e, f, g, h\} = \delta(A)$, and let w be some vertex in R[A]. By Menger's Theorem there are four-edge disjoint paths from w to A. We may identify these paths by the edge they use in $\delta(A)$ as $|\delta(A)| = 4$; hence let P_e, P_f, P_g , and P_h be four-edge disjoint paths from w to A, using e, f, g, and h respectively. Now split off the other vertices in R to obtain a new signed tour graph (R', Σ') such that w is incident to e, f, g, and h; we can do so by splitting off the vertices in each of P_e, P_f, P_g and P_h in a way that preserves the paths P_e, P_f, P_g , and P_h .

As (R', Σ') is an immersion minor of (R, Σ') , it cannot have $\text{odd}-K_5$ as an immersion minor. Now as any cut of R' lifts to a cut of R with the same cardinality and parity, we have that every signature of (R', Σ') lifts to a signature of (R, Σ) with the same size. Hence we have that every signature of (R', Σ') has at least α many odd edges. Therefore (R', Σ') has α edge-disjoint odd circuits, and therefore so does (R, Σ) by Lemma 2.0.1, a contradiction, as desired.

Claim 2.1.4. R is 2-connected.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. Let (A_1, A_2) be a 1-separation with common vertex v. Let $R_1 = R[A_1]$, and let $R_2 = R[A_2]$. Let $\Sigma_1 = \Sigma \cap E(R_1)$, and let $\Sigma_2 = \Sigma \cap E(R_2)$. By resigning at v we may assume that $|\Sigma_1 \cap \delta(v)| \leq 1$ and $|\Sigma_2 \cap \delta(v)| \leq 1$. Now consider the signed graphs (R_1, Σ_1) and (R_2, Σ_2) , and let (R'_i, Σ_i) be the graph obtained by unsubdividing the edge split by v while preserving parity; note that v has degree two in R_i for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. Let α_1 be the minimum size of a signature for (R'_1, Σ'_1) and let α_2 be the minimum size of a signature for (R'_2, Σ'_2) . Let Σ''_1 and Σ''_2 be signatures realizing these sizes. By minimality neither (R'_1, Σ'_1) nor (R'_2, Σ'_2) has an odd- K_5 -immersion minor, as otherwise so would (R, Σ) . Hence we have that (R'_1, Σ'_1) has α_1 many edge-disjoint odd circuits and (R'_2, Σ'_2) has α_2 many edge-disjoint odd circuits, with $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 < \alpha$, as (R, Σ) has less than α many edge-disjoint odd circuits. However, since every cut of (R'_1, Σ'_1) and (R'_2, Σ'_2) lifts to a cut with the same cardinality and parity to a cut of (R, Σ) , $\Sigma''_1 \cup \Sigma''_2$ lifts to a signature Σ' of (R, Σ) with size $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2$. However, as the minimum size of a signature of (R, Σ) was α , which was strictly larger than $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2$, this is a contradiction, as desired.

Two cases follow: either every vertex is incident with a parallel pair or there is some $v \in V(R)$ that is not incident with a parallel pair.

Case 1: Every vertex is incident with a parallel pair. If there is a vertex incident to a parallel quadruple of edges, since R is connected and four-regular, we have that |V(R)| = 2, and the result follows directly. By Claim 2.1.2 we have that every parallel triple of edges contains at least one odd parallel pair, as the two vertices incident to the parallel triple induce a balanced subgraph with only two edges coming out of it. By Claim 2.1.3 we have that every parallel pair is odd, as the two vertices incident to the parallel triple induce a balanced subgraph with only four edges coming out of it. Hence if $|V(R)| \ge 5$ we have at least three edge-disjoint odd parallel pairs, hence three-edge disjoint odd circuits, which by parity gives four edge-disjoint odd circuits, as desired, as $4 \ge \alpha$. Otherwise $|V(R)| \le 4$, and the reader can easily verify that if (R, Σ) has at least α many odd edges in every signature then (R, Σ) also has α edge-disjoint odd circuits, as desired.

Case 2: There is a vertex v not incident with a parallel pair. Now there are three different ways to split off at v in R. Let (R_1, Σ'_1) , (R_2, Σ'_2) , and (R_3, Σ'_3) be the three possible signed graphs resulting from splitting off at v. We may assume that Σ'_1, Σ'_2 , and Σ'_3 are signatures with minimum cardinality. By minimality we have that $|\Sigma'_i| < \alpha$ for $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. By Lemma 2.0.2 we have that $|\Sigma'_i| = \alpha - 2$ for $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. Now lifting a signature Σ_i through a split adds at most two edges to the signature, so each Σ'_i lifts to a signature Σ_i with $|\Sigma_i| = \alpha$ equivalent to Σ for R, as (R, Σ) has at least α many odd edges in every signature. Furthermore, each Σ_i intersects $\delta(v)$ in exactly two edges, with $\Sigma_i \cap \delta(v)$ not equal to $\Sigma_j \cap \delta(v)$ for $i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. Let $\delta(v) = \{e_1, e_2, e_3, e_4\}$. By resigning by $\delta(v)$ and renaming edges we may assume that $e_4 \in \Sigma_i$ for every $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ and that $\Sigma_i \cap \Sigma_j \cap \delta(v) = \{e_4\}$ for all $i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$. Hence we have that $e_i \in \Sigma_i$ for every $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$.

The following two technical claims will be useful. We will first establish a result on how the signatures Σ'_i can intersect.

Claim 2.1.5. All of the Σ'_i are disjoint, and $|\Sigma'_i| \geq 2$.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. Hence either there is a pair of non-disjoint sets Σ'_i and Σ'_j or a set Σ'_i with at most one edge. We may assume without loss of generality that if there is a pair of non-disjoint sets that Σ'_1 and Σ'_2 overlap.

As $|\Sigma'_1| \leq 2$ and $|\Sigma'_2| \leq 2$ as $\alpha \leq 4$ we have that $|\Sigma'_1 \Delta \Sigma'_2| \leq 2$. On the other hand, as all the Σ'_i have the same size we have that if one has at most one edge then all have at most one edge, and hence $|\Sigma'_1 \Delta \Sigma'_2| \leq 2$.

At any rate, we have that $|\Sigma'_1 \Delta \Sigma'_2| \leq 2$. As v is not a cut-vertex by Claim 2.1.4 we have that $\Sigma'_1 \neq \Sigma'_2$. As $e_4 \in \Sigma_i$, for $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, we have that $|\Sigma_1 \Delta \Sigma_2| \leq 4$. Let $S = \Sigma_1 \Delta \Sigma_2$; this is a cut of R. Now (R, Σ) is equivalent to (R, Σ_1) and S gives a cut of (R, Σ_1) with at most four edges partitioning V(R) into two sides S_1 and S_2 , with $v \in S_2$. As v is not in a parallel pair, both sides of this cut have at least two vertices.

Symmetrically, $S\Delta\delta(v)$ is another cut of (R, Σ_1) with at most four edges partitioning V(R) into two sides S_3 and S_4 , with $v \in S_4$, where both sides of this cut have at least two vertices. By renaming if necessary we may assume that $S_1 \subseteq S_4$ and $S_3 \subseteq S_2$. As two edges of Σ_1 are in $\delta(v)$ and the third is in $\Sigma'_1 \Delta \Sigma'_2$, we have the fourth edge is in exactly one of $R[S_1]$ or $R[S_3]$.

This contradicts Claim 2.1.3, as one of S or $S\Delta\delta(v)$ would be a cut with at most four edges, where both sides have at least two vertices and with one side balanced, as desired.



Figure 2.3: Three Cuts of R.

Note that as $\alpha \leq 4$ and $|\Sigma'_i| = 2$, we have that $\alpha = |\Sigma_i| = 4$. Now as $\Sigma_i \Delta \Sigma_j$ are cuts of R, for $i, j \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, we have that $\Sigma'_i \Delta \Sigma'_j$ are four-edge cuts of $R \setminus v$. Let $A' = \Sigma'_1 \Delta \Sigma'_2$, $B' = \Sigma'_1 \Delta \Sigma'_3$, and $C' = \Sigma'_2 \Delta \Sigma'_3$, and let $A = \Sigma_1 \Delta \Sigma_2$, $B = \Sigma_1 \Delta \Sigma_3$, and $C = \Sigma_2 \Delta \Sigma_3$. Now $A' \subseteq A, B' \subseteq B$, and $C' \subseteq C$. Furthermore, A, B, and C split R into four non-empty components R_1, R_2, R_3 , and R_4 , with $|V(R_i)| \geq 1$ and v, connected to R_i via e_i , as shown in Figure 2.3. Note that:

$$\delta(R_1, R_2) \subseteq B \cap C \subseteq \Sigma_3,$$

$$\delta(R_1, R_3) \subseteq A \cap C \subseteq \Sigma_2,$$

$$\delta(R_1, R_4) \subseteq A \cap B \subseteq \Sigma_1,$$

$$\delta(R_2, R_3) \subseteq A \cap B \subseteq \Sigma_1,$$

$$\delta(R_2, R_4) \subseteq A \cap C \subseteq \Sigma_2,$$
 and

$$\delta(R_3, R_4) \subseteq B \cap C \subseteq \Sigma_3.$$

Now some more technical claims.

Claim 2.1.6. There is at most one edge between any two of the components R_1 , R_2 , R_3 , and R_4 .



Figure 2.4: Parallel Edges between R_1 and R_2 – Odd Cuts

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction; we may assume without loss of generality that there are at least two edges between R_1 and R_2 . Note that the edges linking R_1 and R_2 are in Σ_3 , and that any edge linking R_3 and R_4 is also in Σ_3 . Hence there are no edges linking R_3 and R_4 , as $|\Sigma_3| = 4$.

As R is Eulerian $|\delta(R_3)|$ is even. Hence there exists i and j in $\{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ such that either Σ'_1 or Σ'_2 consists of two edges, both with one end in R_i and other in R_j . Otherwise, $|\delta(R_3)|$ would be odd, as $\Sigma'_1 \cup \Sigma'_2$ would consist of four edges, one linking R_3 and R_1 , one linking R_4 and R_2 , one linking R_3 and R_2 , and one linking R_1 and R_4 , as illustrated in Figure 2.4.

Hence one of $\delta(R_3)$ or $\delta(R_4)$ has at most two edges, a contradiction by Claim 2.1.2, as $|V(R_3)| \ge 1$ and $|V(R_4)| \ge 1$.

As there are exactly six edges in $\Sigma'_1 \cup \Sigma'_2 \cup \Sigma'_3$, there is exactly one edge linking any two of R_1 , R_2 , R_3 , and R_4 . Hence we are in the configuration illustrated in Figure 2.5, where there is a complete graph linking v, R_1 , R_2 , R_3 , and R_4 , and where each Σ'_i induces a perfect matching between R_1 , R_2 , R_3 , and R_4 , and where each Σ'_i induces a triangle linking v, R_i , and R_4 . Since $\Sigma_3 \cap E(R_1) = \Sigma_3 \cap E(R_2) = \Sigma_3 \cap E(R_3) = \Sigma_3 \cap E(R_4) = \emptyset$,



Figure 2.5: Odd K_5 .

by Claim 2.1.3 we have that R_1, R_2, R_3 and R_4 contain only a single vertex. Now resigning Σ_3 by $\delta(R_1)$ and $\delta(R_2)$ produces odd- K_5 , a contradiction, as desired.

As a result we obtain the following theorem which characterizes when a signed tour graph can be resigned down to two odd edges.

Lemma 2.1.7. Let (R, Σ) be a four-regular signed graph with $|\Sigma|$ even. Then either:

- (R, Σ) can be resigned to two odd edges, or
- (R, Σ) contains odd- K_5 as an immersion minor, or
- (R, Σ) contains four edge-disjoint odd circuits.

2.2 Immersion-Minor-Minimal Graphs

In light of Lemma 2.1.7 we will now characterize what are the immersion-minor-minimal internally-six-edge connected signed graphs with even signature that pack four-edge-disjoint odd circuits.

Before we do so we will state the following results from Chapter 4. A four-regular graph is *weakly six-edge connected* if if it is four-edge connected and every cut on four edges partitions the graph into two components, one of which has at most two vertices.

Lemma 2.2.1. Let v be a vertex in an internally six-edge connected four-regular graph R. Then two out of the three ways to split off v in R result in weakly six-edge connected graphs.

Lemma 2.2.2. Let v be a vertex in an internally six-edge connected four-regular graph R. Either there is a way to split off v in R while remaining internally six-edge connected or v is incident to an edge in three triangles of R.

Moreover, if R is not isomorphic to K_5 , and \triangle_1 , \triangle_2 , and \triangle_3 are three triangles of R that share an edge, then for all distinct i and j in $\{1, 2, 3\}$, there are two ways to split off at the single vertex in $V(\triangle_i) \setminus V(\triangle_j)$ while remaining internally six-edge connected.

We will also need the following easy observation about weakly six-edge connected tour graphs.

Lemma 2.2.3. Let R be a weakly six-edge connected tour graph. If R has no parallel pairs, then R is internally six-edge connected.

Proof. Suppose R was weakly six-edge connected. Then there is a bipartition of V(R) into (A, B), where |A| = 2, $|B| \ge 2$, and $|\delta(A)| = 2$. Now R[A] is a connected two-regular graph on two vertices, that is, a parallel pair, a contradiction, as desired.

We will prove the following lemma.

Lemma 2.2.4. Let (R, Σ) be an immersion-minor-minimal internally-six-edge signed tour graph packing four-edge-disjoint odd circuits. Then $|V(R)| \leq 7$.

For brevity, we will say a signed tour graph (R, Σ) is *packed* if it is an immersionminor-minimal internally-six-edge connected signed tour graph with a packing \mathcal{P} of four edge-disjoint odd circuits. We start by proving the following structural results on packed signed graphs (R, Σ) :

Lemma 2.2.5. Let \mathcal{P} be any packing of four edge-disjoint odd circuits of a packed signed tour graph (R, Σ) . Then every vertex in V(R) is covered by two circuits in \mathcal{P} , and hence every edge of R is covered by some circuit in \mathcal{P} . *Proof.* Suppose not for a contradiction. Let v be a vertex not covered by two odd circuits. Then v has two neighbours w and x also not covered by two odd circuits. Note that as R is four-regular, if v is in an edge incident to three circuits then one of w or x is not. Hence by Lemma 2.2.2 there is a way to split off and remain internally six-edge-connected at one of v, w or x. Such a split preserves the number of odd circuits, contradicting minimality, as desired.

Lemma 2.2.6. Let (R, Σ) be a packed signed tour graph with packing \mathcal{P} . Let $\Delta = \{e_1, e_2, e_3\}$ be an odd triangle in \mathcal{P} and let C be an odd circuit in \mathcal{P} , such that C meets Δ in all three vertices. If $C = P_1 P_2 P_3$ such that P_i is a path and $C_i = P_i e_i$ is a circuit of R, then each C_i is an even circuit.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. Let v_1, v_2, v_3 be the vertices of Δ , with $e_1 = \{v_1, v_2\}, e_2 = \{v_2, v_3\}$, and $e_3 = \{v_3, v_1\}$. First observe that the vertices on the triangle are not incident to an edge in three triangles, so every vertex on the triangle can be split off in a way preserving internal six-connectivity. By resigning on a vertex in the triangle we may assume without loss of generality that e_1 is the only odd edge in Δ . Now as C is odd, it contains an odd path.

Suppose for a contradiction that P_1 is odd. By parity either both P_2 and P_3 are odd or both are even. If both are odd then note that P_2e_2 and P_3e_3 are odd. Now both possible ways are splitting off at v_2 that do not introduce a parallel pair preserve the number of odd circuits, as both P_2e_2 , P_3e_3 are odd and both $P_2P_3e_1$, $P_1e_2e_3$ are odd. The split at vwhich preserves internal six-connectivity is one of the two splits that does not introduce a parallel pair, hence there is a way to split off at v while keeping four edge-disjoint odd circuits and internal six-connectivity, a contradiction.

Similarly, if both P_2 and P_3 are even both ways of splitting off at v_2 that do not introduce a parallel pair keep four edge-disjoint odd circuits, as both $P_1e_2e_3$, $e_1P_2P_3$ are odd and so are P_3e_3 and P_2e_2 , a contradiction. Hence P_1 cannot be odd and so exactly one of P_2 , P_3 is; by symmetry we may assume P_2 is odd.

Now both ways of splitting off at v_3 that do not introduce a parallel pair preserve the number of odd circuits, as both P_1e_1 , P_3e_3 are odd and both $P_2e_3P_1$, $e_1e_2P_3$ are odd. Hence there is a way to split off at v_3 while keeping four edge-disjoint odd circuits and internal six-edge connectivity, contradicting minimality, as desired.

Lemma 2.2.7. If C_1 and C_2 are two edge-disjoint odd circuits of a signed tour graph (R, Σ) that meet at two vertices v and w, then either there are two distinct edge-disjoint odd circuits C'_1 and C'_2 using edges of C_1 and C_2 that use a transition different from the one C_1 and C_2 use at v.

Proof. Suppose C_1 and C_2 meet twice. Then $C_1 = vP_1wP_2$ for paths P_1 and P_2 and $C_2 = vP_3wP_4$ for paths P_3 and P_4 . Now as C_1 is odd, one of P_1 or P_2 is odd; we may assume without loss of generality that P_1 is odd. Similarly, we may assume that P_3 is odd. Now P_1P_4 is an odd closed walk which is edge-disjoint from the odd closed walk that is P_2P_3 . Note that these odd walks use different transitions at v. As P_1P_4 is an odd closed walk, it contains an odd cycle C'_1 ; similarly P_2P_3 contains an odd cycle C'_2 . Note that if v is in both C'_1 and C'_2 they use a different transition; otherwise, we have two odd cycles C'_1 and C'_2 using the edges of C_1 and C_2 that do not fully cover v.

However, if v is not in C'_1 or v is not in C'_2 , $\mathcal{P}\Delta\{C_1, C_2, C'_1, C'_2\}$ gives a packing of four edge-disjoint odd circuits that does not cover every edge incident to v, a contradiction. Hence $v \in V(C'_1)$ and $v \in V(C'_2)$, as desired.

We will need a few more technical propositions:

Lemma 2.2.8. Let \mathcal{P} be any packing of four edge-disjoint odd circuits of a packed signed tour graph (R, Σ) . If \triangle is an odd triangle of \mathcal{P} , then there is no edge $e \in \triangle$ that is contained in two other odd triangles \triangle_1, \triangle_2 of (R, Σ) .

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. As \triangle_2 and \triangle_3 are both odd circuits,

$$|\Delta_2 \cap \Sigma| = |(\Delta_2 \setminus \{e\}) \cap \Sigma| + |\{e\} \cap \Sigma| \equiv 1 \pmod{2}, \text{ and} \\ |\Delta_3 \cap \Sigma| = |(\Delta_3 \setminus \{e\}) \cap \Sigma| + |\{e\} \cap \Sigma| \equiv 1 \pmod{2}.$$

Consider the circuit $C = \triangle_2 \Delta \triangle_3$. This circuit is even, since

$$|C \cap \Sigma| = |(\Delta_2 \setminus \{e\}) \cap \Sigma| + |(\Delta_3 \setminus \{e\}) \cap \Sigma| \equiv 0 \pmod{2}.$$

Hence $C \notin \mathcal{P}$. Let w be the vertex in \triangle_2 that is not in either \triangle or \triangle_3 , and let Q and S be the two odd circuits in \mathcal{P} that are incident to w. As R is not isomorphic to K_5 , by Lemma 2.2.2, w can be split apart in two ways preserving internal six-edge connectivity. These two ways to split are the two ways to split at w that do not identify \triangle_2 to a a parallel pair. However, since $S \neq C$ and $Q \neq C$, S and Q are immersed to edge-disjoint odd circuits in one of the two resulting graphs. Hence (R, Σ) is not minimal, which is a contradiction, as (R, Σ) is a packed signed tour graph.



Figure 2.6: Circuits C and D.

Lemma 2.2.9. Let (R, Σ) be a packed signed tour graph with packing \mathcal{P} . If C and D are two odd circuits of \mathcal{P} that share at least two common vertices, then either C is a triangle or D is a triangle.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction, so $|C| \ge 4$ and $|D| \ge 4$. By Lemma 2.2.7 there is an alternate transition at v giving rise to two other edge-disjoint odd circuits D' and C' using $E(C \cup D)$.

By Lemma 2.2.1 there are two ways to split off at v preserving weak six-connectivity. Hence there is one way to split off at v which preserves weak six-connectivity and also preserves the two odd circuits C and D (possibly by replacing C and D with C' and D'beforehand). Let (R', Σ') be the graph obtained by splitting off at v.

Consider the neighbours of v in R; let the neighbours of v in C be c and b, and let the neighbours of v in D be a and d. As a split which preserves weak but not internal six-connectivity in an internally six-edge-connected graph is one which turns a triangle into a parallel pair, we may assume by symmetry at least one of $\Delta_1 = \{c, b, v\}$ or $\Delta_2 = \{a, d, v\}$ is a triangle in R, as shown in Figure 2.6. Otherwise (R', Σ') would be internally six-edgeconnected, a contradiction, as desired. Furthermore, as R' is weakly six-edge-connected, we have that if Δ_1 is a triangle in R, then the $\{c, b\}$ edge is not in any triangle of R' and symmetrically with Δ_2 and the $\{a, d\}$ edge.

As $C \neq \Delta_1$ and $D \neq \Delta_2$, from \mathcal{P} we obtain a packing \mathcal{P}' of four edge-disjoint odd circuits of (R', Σ') such that neither the parallel pair $\Delta'_1 = \{c, b\}$ nor the parallel pair $\Delta'_2 = \{a, d\}$ are in \mathcal{P}' . Hence we may split off again at possibly b or d to eliminate the parallel pairs in one of the two ways that do not introduce loops to obtain a third signed graph (R'', Σ'') . As neither of the parallel pairs were in \mathcal{P}' , this does not disturb the parity of the cycles in \mathcal{P}' , so \mathcal{P}' gives a packing of four edge-disjoint odd cycles of (R'', Σ'') .
Note that this splitting off operation at b or d does not disturb weak six-edgeconnectivity; all we have done is shrunk a parallel pair to a single vertex.

As splitting off at v can only introduce up to two parallel pairs, namely $\{c, b\}$ or $\{a, d\}$, (R'', Σ'') is a weakly six-edge connected graph with no parallel pairs. Hence (R'', Σ'') is internally six-edge connected, and thus it is a packed signed tour graph, a contradiction, as desired.

We are now ready to prove Lemma 2.2.4.

Proof of Lemma 2.2.4. Let (R, Σ) be a packed signed tour graph. Claim 2.2.10. $|V(R)| \leq 9$, and \mathcal{P} consists of three triangles and one cycle.

Proof. Suppose that $|V(R)| \ge 10$ for a contradiction. Let $\mathcal{P} = \{C_1, C_2, C_3, C_4\}$. Every vertex in R is incident to a pair of cycles. As there are at least 10 vertices, and only $\binom{4}{2} = 6$ possible such pairs, there are at least two vertices who are incident to the same pair of cycles. Without loss of generality we may assume that C_1 and C_2 meet twice.

Hence by Lemma 2.2.9 either C_1 or C_2 is a triangle; we may assume that C_1 is without loss of generality. Each of the remaining vertices not in C_1 are incident to a pair of cycles in $\{C_2, C_3, C_4\}$. As there are at least 7 remaining vertices and only $\binom{3}{2} = 3$ possible pairs, we have that two of C_2 , C_3 , and C_4 meet twice. Again one is a triangle; we may assume that C_2 is without loss of generality.

Finally, each of the remaining vertices not in C_1 nor in C_2 are incident to a pair of cycles in $\{C_3, C_4\}$. As there are at least three vertices remaining and $\binom{2}{2} = 1$ possible pair, C_3 and C_4 meet twice; hence one is a triangle. Hence \mathcal{P} consists of three triangles and one other cycle. Now as every vertex is covered by two cycles, there can be at most $3 \times 3 = 9$ vertices in R, as desired.

Hence we have shown that $|V(R)| \leq 9$. So (R, Σ) consists of four edge-disjoint odd circuits, three of which are edge-disjoint triangles and the fourth which meets every triangle. Let Δ_1, Δ_2 , and Δ_3 be the three odd triangles in \mathcal{P} , and let C be the remaining odd circuit. Note that $|V(R)| \geq 6$ as R is internally six-edge-connected and hence simple. It remains to show that $|V(R)| \leq 7$. To do so, we will prove the following three claims.

Claim 2.2.11. Let \triangle' be a triangle of \mathcal{P} . If C meets \triangle' three times, then there is no triangle \triangle of R such that \triangle consists of two edges of C and one edge of \triangle' .



Figure 2.7: $\triangle' = \{b, c, d\}, \Delta = \{a, b, d\}, \text{ and } C = \dots e, b, a, d, f \dots$

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. Hence we are the configuration shown in Figure 2.7. As R is simple, any two edge-disjoint odd triangles may only share a single vertex. Hence |V(C)| > 4. Now d cannot be incident to an edge in three triangles of R, as this third triangle would use the edges of C, since any two triangles in \mathcal{P} meet in at most a single vertex. This would imply that e = f and hence |V(C)| = 4, contradicting the fact that |V(C)| > 4.

Hence there is a way to split off at d to remain internally six-edge-connected. As a four-regular graph that is internally six-edge-connected must be simple, such a split must identify the edges (b, d), (d, f) and (c, d), (a, d). By Lemma 2.2.6 we have that Δ is even, and hence this split preserves the number of edge disjoint odd circuits, a contradiction, as desired.

Claim 2.2.12. $|V(R)| \neq 9$.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. Hence R is a four-regular graph on nine-vertices that has an Hamiltonian cycle C and three edge-disjoint odd triangles. From Claim 2.2.11, as C meets every odd triangle three times, there is no other triangle in R. Hence R is the Cayley graph $X(\mathbb{Z}_9, \{\pm 1, \pm 3\})$, shown in Figure 2.8. By renumbering we may assume that $C = (1, 2, 3, \ldots, 9)$.

Claim 2.2.13. Every vertex in $X(\mathbb{Z}_9, \{\pm 1, \pm 3\})$ can be split off in two ways preserving internal six-edge-connectivity.



Figure 2.8: $X(\mathbb{Z}_9, \{\pm 1, \pm 3\})$

Proof. There are three ways to split off any vertex in $X(\mathbb{Z}_9, \{\pm 1, \pm 3\})$. One split results in a graph with a graph with a parallel pair, and the other two give simple graphs on eight vertices that do not consist of two copies of K_4 joined by four edges. Hence by Lemma 4.4.8 there are two ways to split off preserving internal six-connectivity.

Hence there are two ways to split off at every vertex preserving internal six-connectivity. Since C meets each triangle three times, by Lemma 2.2.7 there is a way of splitting at a vertex preserving both internal six-connectivity and the number of odd circuits, a contradiction, as desired.

Claim 2.2.14. $|V(R)| \neq 8$.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. Now exactly two of the triangles in \mathcal{P} share a vertex as every vertex in R is covered by two odd circuits of \mathcal{P} ; we may assume without loss of generality that Δ_1 and Δ_2 share a vertex, say d. Let $\Delta_3 = \{a, b, c\}, \Delta_2 = \{d, f, g\}$, and $\Delta_1 = \{d, e, h\}$.

As R is internally six-edge connected, there at least six edges from Δ_3 to the rest of the graph. There are at most six edges from Δ_3 to the rest of the graph as two of the edges incident to each of a, b, and c are in the triangle. Hence either $\{e, f\}$ is an edge or $\{g, h\}$ is an edge of R. This edge is also an edge of C as it is not in any of the triangles. We may assume without loss of generality that $\{g, h\}$ is an edge of C by symmetry. Now g is incident to one more edge of C. This edge cannot be from g to e as otherwise $|\delta(\{d, e, f, g, h\})| < 6$, a contradiction. Hence it is from g to one of a, b, or c. By symmetry we may assume that C contains a $\{g, b\}$ edge.

Now as R is simple and $|V(C)| \ge 3$, there is no $\{b, h\}$ edge. Two cases follow.



Figure 2.9: Counterexample on Eight Vertices. Odd triangles drawn in thick red, C drawn in blue.

Case 1: There is an edge of C linking b to f. Now there cannot be an edge of C linking f to e, as otherwise $|\delta(\{d, e, f, g, h\})| = 4$, contradicting internal six-connectivity. Hence there is an edge of C linking f to a or c, and by symmetry we may assume there is an edge of C linking f to a. As |C| = 8, there is no edge of C linking a to h; hence the remaining edges of C must be from a to e, from e to c, and from c to h, as shown in Figure 2.10. However the triangle $\{a, e, c\}$ contradicts Claim 2.2.11, a contradiction, as desired.

Case 2: There is an edge of C linking b to e. Now there cannot be an edge of C linking f to e, as otherwise $|\delta(\{d, e, f, g, h\})| = 4$, contradicting internal six-connectivity. Hence there is an edge of C linking e to a or c, by symmetry we may assume there is an edge of C linking e to a. As |C| = 8, there is no edge of C linking a to h; hence the remaining edges of C must be from a to f, from f to c, and from c to h, as shown in Figure 2.11. However the triangle $\{a, f, c\}$ contradicts Claim 2.2.11, a contradiction, as desired.

Hence $|V(R)| \leq 7$, as desired.

Now we will show that R is either $R(F_7)$ or $R(W_7)$.

Lemma 2.2.15. If |V(R)| = 6 then (R, Σ) is equivalent to $R(R_7)$.

Proof. The unique simple four-regular graph on six vertices is the octrahedal graph, shown in Figure 2.12. Up to symmetry there is exactly one set of four edge-disjoint odd triangles



Figure 2.10: Counterexample on Eight Vertices - Case 1.



Figure 2.11: Counterexample on Eight Vertices - Case 2.



Figure 2.12: Octahedral Graph.

- the triangles $\{1, 3, 5\}$, $\{1, 2, 6\}$, $\{2, 3, 4\}$, and $\{4, 5, 6\}$. By parity as (R, Σ) has an even number odd edges it follows that exactly zero, two, or four out of the four remaining triangles are odd. We take these three cases in turn.

Case 1: Zero of the four remaining triangles are odd. We may resign (R, Σ) so that the spanning tree given by (1, 2), (2, 3), (3, 4), (4, 5), and (5, 6) is even. Hence (2, 4) is odd, (4, 6) is odd, (2, 6) is even, (1, 6) is odd, (1, 5) is odd, (3, 5) is even, and (1, 3) is even, giving us $R(F_7)$, as desired.

Case 2: Two of the four remaining triangles are odd. By symmetry we may assume without loss of generality that the triangles $\{1, 2, 3\}$ and $\{1, 5, 6\}$ are odd. We may resign (R, Σ) so that the spanning tree given by (1, 2), (1, 3), (3, 4), (4, 5), and (4, 6) is even. Hence the edge (2, 6) is odd, (2, 4) is odd, (6, 5) is odd, (1, 2) odd, and all other edges are even. However this graph admits an odd- K_5 -immersion minor, a contradiction, as desired.

Case 3: All of the remaining triangles are odd. We may resign (R, Σ) so that the spanning tree given by (1, 2), (2, 3), (3, 4), (4, 5), and (5, 6) is even. However this graph admits an odd- K_5 -immersion minor, a contradiction, as desired.

Lemma 2.2.16. If |V(R)| = 7 then (R, Σ) is equivalent to $R(W_7)$.

Proof. Note that there are exactly two unique simple four-regular graphs on seven vertices, as shown in Figures 2.13 and 2.14.

Claim 2.2.17. R is not the Postman's Work Day Graph, as shown in Figure 2.14.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. Let \triangle_1, \triangle_2 be two edge-disjoint odd triangles in \mathcal{P} , and let C_3, C_4 be the other two odd four-cycles in \mathcal{P} . There are two cases:

Case 1: \triangle_1 and \triangle_2 share a vertex. By symmetry we may assume without loss of generality that $\triangle_1 = \{c, b, g\}$ and $\triangle_2 = \{e, f, g\}$. Hence C_3 and C_4 meet twice, once at a and once at



Figure 2.13: Circulant $X(\mathbb{Z}_7, \{\pm 1, \pm 2\})$.



Figure 2.14: Postman's Work Day Graph.



Figure 2.15: An alternate drawing of $X(\mathbb{Z}_7, \{\pm 1, \pm 2\})$.

d. Note that there are two ways to split off at a preserving internal six-connectivity. Hence by Lemma 2.2.7 there is way to split off at a preserving both internal six-connectivity and the number of edge-disjoint odd circuits, a contradiction, as desired.

Case 2: \triangle_1 and \triangle_2 do not share a vertex. By symmetry we may assume without loss of generality that $\triangle_1 = \{a, b, c\}$ and $\triangle_2 = \{d, e, f\}$, and that C_3 shares two vertices with \triangle_1 and C_4 shares two vertices with \triangle_2 . By resigning along a spanning tree we may assume that the edges (d, e), (d, f), (c, d), (b, d), (a, e), and (g, e) are all even. Hence the edges (e, f) and (b, c) are odd. We consider two subcases.

Case 2.2.1: One of $\{c, d, b\}$ or $\{a, e, f\}$ is even. By symmetry we may assume that $\Delta_5 = \{c, d, b\}$ is even. Hence by parity we have that $C_6 = \{a, b, c, g\}$ is an odd circuit. Now as $\Delta_2 = \{d, e, f\}$ is odd, the closed walk $W = \Delta_2 \cup \Delta_5$ is odd. Hence we may split off at d to get a graph (T', Σ') that is both internally six-edge-connected and contains at least three edge-disjoint odd circuits. By parity (T', Σ') has at least four edge-disjoint odd circuits, contradicting the minimality of G, as desired.

Case 2.2.2: Both $\{c, d, b\}$ and $\{a, e, f\}$ are odd. Since three odd triangles cannot share an edge, we have that both $\Delta_5 = \{c, b, g\}$ and $\Delta_6 = \{e, f, g\}$ are even. Hence $\Delta'_2 = \{a, e, f\}$ is odd and $C'_4 = \{d, e, g, f\}$ is odd. Thus $\mathcal{P}' = \{\Delta_1, \Delta'_2, C_3, C'_4\}$ is a set of four-edge disjoint odd circuits of (T, Σ) where the triangles share a vertex, and therefore we obtain our desired contradiction via a reduction by **Case 1**, as desired.

Hence R is the circulant $X(\mathbb{Z}_7, \{\pm 1, \pm 2\})$. Observe that \mathcal{P} cannot contain two odd triangles and two odd four-cycles, as deleting any pair of edge-disjoint triangles leaves a graph with a five-cycle and a triangle. Taken all of the triangles modulo 7, all of the triangles in R are of the form $\{x, x+1, x+2\}$. Let Δ_x denote the triangle $\{x, x+1, x+2\}$.

Claim 2.2.18. Every triangle in (R, Σ) is odd.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. We say two triangles Δ_x, Δ_y are adjacent if $x \pm 2 \equiv y \pmod{7}$. Now every packing of four edge-disjoint odd circuits of R consists of three consecutive adjacent triangles and an odd five-cycle. Hence we can find a packing \mathcal{P} of four edge-disjoint circuits of R where one of the triangles in \mathcal{P} is adjacent to an even triangle. Since R is a circulant, by symmetry we may assume without loss of generality that the three triangles in R are $\Delta_2 = \{2, 3, 4\}, \Delta_7 = \{1, 2, 7\}, \text{ and } \Delta_5 = \{5, 6, 7\}$. Hence one of the triangles $\{3, 4, 5\}$ or $\{4, 5, 6\}$ is even. By symmetry we may assume that $\{3, 4, 5\}$ is even. Then the parity on the edge (3, 4) is the same as the parity of the path (3, 5, 4). Thus $\Delta'_2 = \{2, 3, 5, 4\}$ is odd and therefore the split at vertex 3 which preserves internal six-edge connectivity also preserves the circuits in \mathcal{P} , a contradiction, as desired.

Now to show that (R, Σ) is resignable to $R(W_7)$, first note that we may resign (R, Σ) in a way such that the spanning tree given by the edges (1,2), (1,3), (1,6), (1,7), (3,4), and (5,6) are even. This forces the edges (3,2), (2,7), and (6,7) to be odd. Furthermore, as $|\Sigma|$ is even, the edges (3,5) and (4,6) are even and the edge (4,5) is odd. Now by resigning along the cut given by $\{(1,2), (1,3), (1,6), (1,7)\}$ and by the cut $\{(2,4), (3,4), (4,6), (3,5), (5,6), (5,7)\}$ we obtain a signed graph based on R where every edge is odd, which is exactly $R(W_7)$, as desired.

Hence we obtain the following lemma:

Lemma 2.2.19. If (R, Σ) is signed, immersion-minor-minimal internally six-edge connected tour graph packing four edge-disjoint odd circuits with $|\Sigma|$ even then:

- |V(R)| = 6 and (R, Σ) is equivalent to $R(W_7)$, as shown in Figure 1.16.
- |V(R)| = 7 and (R, Σ) is equivalent to $R(F_7)$, as shown in Figure 1.17.

Chapter 3

Preliminaries

In the rest of this thesis we build up the necessary machinery in order to prove Bouchet's Theorem from Lemmas 2.2.19 and 2.1.7. In this chapter we review preliminary results on vertex minors and splits. For each result give a reference in which the result and proof first appeared in.

3.1 Vertex Minors

Note that there are three distinct ways to split off a vertex in a four-regular graph. More generally, for vertex minors, there are three ways to remove a vertex up to local equivalence. This result is due to Bouchet who proved it in the context of isotropic systems. We present a purely graph-theoretic proof of this result due to Geelen and Oum in [9].

Lemma 3.1.1 (Bouchet [2]). Let v and w be two adjacent vertices in a simple graph G. If H is a vertex minor of G with $v \notin V(H)$, then H is a vertex minor of one of $G \setminus v$, $G * v \setminus v$, and $G * v * w * v \setminus v$.

Note that for any two neighbours u, w of v we have that

$$G * v * u * v = G * v * w * v * u * w * u.$$
(3.1)

Hence $GG * v * u * v \\ \forall v$ is locally equivalent to $G * v * w * v \\ \forall v$. In light of this fact we will write $G \circ v$ for $G * v * u * v \\ \forall v$; this is well-defined up to local equivalence. If v has

no neighbours then we take $G \circ v = G \smallsetminus v$. For notational convenience we will also write G/v for $G * v \backsim v$.

We first defer this proof to prove the following technical claim, again, due to Geelen and Oum in [9].

Lemma 3.1.2 (Geelen and Oum, [9, Lemma 3.1]). Let G be a simple graph, let v and w be two distinct vertices in G.

- 1. If v is not adjacent to w, then $G * w \smallsetminus v$, G * w/v, and $G * w \circ v$ are locally equivalent to $G \backsim v$, G/v, and $G \circ v$ respectively.
- 2. If v is adjacent to w, then $G * w \smallsetminus v$, G * w/v, and $G * w \circ v$ are locally equivalent to $G \backsim v$, $G \circ v$, and G/v respectively.

Proof. It is clear that $G * w \smallsetminus v = G \smallsetminus v * w$ and hence that $G * w \smallsetminus v$ is locally equivalent to $G \smallsetminus v$.

Consider the case where w is adjacent to v. First observe that for two neighbours v and w in G that

$$G * v * w * v = G * w * v * w.$$

See Figure 3.1 for an example of a pivot.

Hence we have that:

$$G * w * v \smallsetminus v = G * w * v * w * w \smallsetminus v$$
$$= (G * v * w * v) * w \smallsetminus v$$
$$= [(G * v * w * v) \smallsetminus v] * w.$$

Also, we have that, for any neighbour u of v:

$$G * w * u * v * u \smallsetminus v = G * w * w * v * w * u * w * u \backsim v$$
$$= G * v * w * u * w * u \backsim v$$
$$= [G * v \backsim v] * w * u * w * u.$$

So we have that $G * w \setminus v$, $G * w * v \setminus v$, and $G * w * v \times u * v \setminus v$ are locally equivalent to $G \setminus v$, $G * v \setminus v$, and $G * v * u * v \setminus v$ respectively for any neighbour u of v. Now consider the case where w is not adjacent to v. Now we have that:

$$G * w * v \smallsetminus v = G * v * w \smallsetminus v$$
$$= G * v \lor v \lor w.$$

Finally, let u be a neighbour of v. If u is not adjacent to w, then:

$$G * w * v * u * v \smallsetminus v = G * v * u * v * w \lor v$$
$$= [G * v * u * v \lor v] * w.$$

Now if u is adjacent to w, then $G * w * u * v * u \smallsetminus v$ is locally equivalent to $G * w * u * v \smallsetminus v$. Now:

$$G * w * u * v \smallsetminus v * w = G * w * u * v * w \smallsetminus v$$

= $[(G * w * u * w) * w * v * w] \smallsetminus v$
= $[(G * u * w * u) * v * w * v] \smallsetminus v$
= $G * v * u * v \backsim v$ from equation 3.1.

Now we will prove Lemma 3.1.1. For notational convenience, given a string of vertex labels $S = s_1 s_2 \dots s_m$, we let $G * S = G * s_1 * s_2 \dots * s_m$

Proof of Lemma 3.1.1. Let H be a vertex minor of G. Then H is an induced subgraph of a graph G' locally equivalent to G. Now G' = G * S for $S \in V(G)^*$. Now let $v \in V(G) \setminus V(H)$. It suffices to show $G' \setminus v$ is locally equivalent to one of $G \setminus v$, $G * v \setminus v$, or $G * u * v * u \setminus v$ for a neighbour u of v.

This we will do by induction on |S|. The base case when |S| = 1 follows by definition so we may assume that $|S| \ge 2$. Hence let S = S'xy. If v is not y then we have that

$$G * S \smallsetminus v = G * S'xy \smallsetminus v = G * S'x \smallsetminus v * y.$$

Now $(G*S'x) \setminus v$ is locally equivalent to one of $G \setminus v$, G/v, or $G \circ v$. Thus since $G*S'x \setminus v*y$ is locally equivalent to $(G*S'x) \setminus v$, by closure $(G*S'x) \setminus v$ is locally equivalent to one of $G \setminus v$, G/v, or $G \circ v$, as desired.

Hence we may assume that S = S'xv. Now let G'' = G * S'. By Lemma 3.1.2 we have that G'' * xv is a vertex minor of one of $G'' \smallsetminus v$, $G'' * v \backsim v$, or $G'' * u * v * u \backsim v$ for some neighbour u of v. By induction as |S'| < |S| and G'' = G * S' we have that $G'' \backsim v$, $G'' * v \backsim v$, and $G'' * u * v * u \backsim v$ are each locally equivalent to one of $G \backsim v$, $G * v \backsim v$, or $G * u * v * u \backsim v$ for some neighbour u of v, which concludes the induction, as desired. \Box



Figure 3.1: Pivoting G at vw; crossed edges are complemented.

3.2 Rank Inequalities

The next result we state and prove is a submodularity inequality on the rank function of a matrix over GF(2). We will use this result in the next section to establish some useful inequalities on the rank of submatrices of the adjacency matrix of a graph G. We will let r denote the matrix rank function. We will also use M[R] to denote the submatrix of Mgiven by the rows in R and M[R, C] to denote the submatrix of M given by the rows in Rand the columns in C.

Lemma 3.2.1 (Truemper, [18, Lemma 2.3.11]). Let M be a $n \times m$ binary matrix indexed by rows R and columns C. Then for any sets X_1 , Y_1 of rows and X_2 , Y_2 of columns,

$$r(M[X_1, X_2]) + r(M[Y_1, Y_2]) \ge r(M[X_1 \cup Y_1, X_2 \cap Y_2]) + r(M[X_1 \cap Y_1, X_2 \cup Y_2])$$

Proof. We may assume without loss of generality that R and C are disjoint sets. Now consider the $n \times (n + m)$ binary matrix $M' = [I_{n \times n} | M]$ with rows indexed by R and columns given by $R \cup C$. We have that:

$$\begin{aligned} r(M[X_1, X_2]) &= r(M'[R, (R \setminus X_1) \cup X_2]) - |R \setminus X_1| \\ r(M[Y_1, Y_2]) &= r(M'[R, (R \setminus Y_1) \cup Y_2]) - |R \setminus Y_1| \\ r(M[X_1 \cap Y_1, X_2 \cup Y_2]) &= r(M'[R, (R \setminus (X_1 \cap Y_1)) \cup (X_2 \cup Y_2)]) - |R \setminus (X_1 \cap Y_1)| \\ r(M[X_1 \cup Y_1, X_2 \cap Y_2]) &= r(M'[R, (R \setminus (X_1 \cup Y_1)) \cup (X_2 \cap Y_2)]) - |R \setminus (X_1 \cup Y_1)|. \end{aligned}$$

By submodularity we have that:

$$r(M'[R, (R \setminus X_1) \cup X_2]) + r(M'[R, (R \setminus Y_1) \cup Y_2]) \geq r(M'[R, (R \setminus (X_1 \cap Y_1)) \cup (X_2 \cup Y_2)]) + r(M'[R, (R \setminus (X_1 \cup Y_1)) \cup (X_2 \cap Y_2)]).$$

Moreover,

$$R \setminus X_1 | + |R \setminus Y_1| = |R \setminus (X_1 \cap Y_1)| + |R \setminus (X_1 \cup Y_1)|.$$

Hence

$$r(M[X_1, X_2]) + r(M[Y_1, Y_2]) \ge r(M[X_1 \cup Y_1, X_2 \cap Y_2]) + r(M[X_1 \cap Y_1, X_2 \cup Y_2]),$$

as desired.

42

Chapter 4

Generating Prime Graphs

By Lemma 1.4.5 the excluded minors for the class of circle graphs are prime. In this chapter we will prove Lemma 1.4.5, which will give us an inductive tool for studying prime graphs. For clarity we restate that lemma now.

Lemma 4.0.1 (Bouchet [3]). Let G be a prime graph. Either G is locally equivalent to C_5 or there is a graph G' locally equivalent to G such that $G' \setminus v$ is prime for some vertex $v \in V(G)$.

4.1 Cut Rank

We start by introducing a connectivity function. Let G be a simple graph, and A(G) be its adjacency matrix. The *cut rank function* of a graph G, denoted $\rho_G(X)$, is the rank of the matrix $A(G)[X, V(G) \setminus X]$ taken over GF(2); see Oum [16]. We write $\rho(X)$ when it is clear which graph is being used.

Splits are innately related to cut-rank.

Lemma 4.1.1. Let G be a simple graph, $A \subseteq V(G)$. Then $(A, V(G) \setminus A)$ is a split of G if and only if $|A| \ge 2$, $|V(G) \setminus A| \ge 2$, and $\rho(A) = 1$.

Proof. Suppose $(A, V(G) \setminus A)$ is a split of G. Then for every $x \in A$, $N(x) \cap (V(G) \setminus A)$ is either empty of $N(A) \cap (V(G) \setminus A)$. Hence $r(A(G)[A, V(G) \setminus A] = 1$.

Conversely, suppose that $A \subseteq V(G)$ satisifies $|A| \ge 2$, $|V(G) \smallsetminus A| \ge 2$, and $\rho(A) = 1$. Then the rows of $A(G)[A, V(G) \setminus A]$ are co-linear. Since this rank is taken over GF(2), this means that there exists a $w \in \{0,1\}^{V(G)\setminus A}$ such that every row of $A(G)[A, V(G) \setminus A]$ is either 0w or 1w. Hence the neighbourhood of every vertex in A in $V(G) \setminus A$ is either empty or the subset of $V(G) \setminus A$ supporting w, as desired. \Box

Furthermore, the cut rank function is invariant under local complementation.

Lemma 4.1.2 (Oum [16]). Let v be a vertex in a simple graph G, and let G' = G * v. Then for every $X \subseteq V(G)$, $\rho_G(X) = \rho_{G'}(X)$.

Proof. As $\rho'_G(X) = \rho'_G(V(G) \setminus X)$, we may assume that $v \in X$.

Now $A(G * v)[X, V(G) \setminus X]$ is obtained from $A(G)[X, V(G) \setminus X]$ by adding the row for v to the rows for every neighbour of v in X. These are elementary row operations, and hence the rank of $A(G * v)[X, V(G) \setminus X]$ is the same as the rank of $A(G)[X, V(G) \setminus X]$. \Box

We would like to know how splits, and hence cut-rank, behave under taking vertexminors. The following equalities will prove useful in doing so.

Lemma 4.1.3 (Oum [16]). Let G be a simple graph, $v \in V(G)$, and $X \subseteq V(G) \setminus \{v\}$. Then

$$\rho_{G/v}(X) = r\left(\left[\begin{array}{c|c} 1 & A(G)[\{v\}, (V(G) \setminus X) \setminus \{v\}] \\ \hline A(G)[X, \{v\}] & A(G)[X, (V(G) \setminus X) \setminus \{v\}] \end{array}\right) - 1.$$

Proof. Let V = V(G), $N = N_G(v)$, let 1 denote the all-1's matrix, and let 0 denote the zero matrix. Let $Y = V \setminus X \setminus \{v\}$. Define the following matrices:

$$L_{11} = A[X \cap N, Y \cap N],$$

$$L_{12} = A[X \cap N, Y \setminus N],$$

$$L_{21} = A[X \setminus N, Y \cap N], \text{ and}$$

$$L_{22} = A[X \setminus N, Y \setminus N].$$

Note that L_{11} is the adjacency matrix of the neighbours of v, L_{12} is the adjacency matrix between neighbours and non-neighbours of v, $L_{21} = L_{12}^T$, and that L_{22} represents the adjacency matrix of non-neighbours of v, relativized to X and Y.

Then

$$\rho_{G/v}(X) = r(A(G/v)[X,Y]).$$

By applying Lemma 4.1.2 we have that

$$r(A(G/v)[X,Y]) = r\left(\begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1} + L_{11} & L_{12} \\ L_{21} & L_{22} \end{bmatrix} \right)$$
$$= r\left(\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0^T & \mathbb{1} + L_{11} & L_{12} \\ 0^T & L_{21} & L_{22} \end{bmatrix} \right) - 1$$
$$= r\left(\begin{bmatrix} 1 & \mathbb{1} & 0 \\ 0^T & \mathbb{1} + L_{11} & L_{12} \\ 0^T & L_{21} & L_{22} \end{bmatrix} \right) - 1.$$

Now by elementary row operations

$$r\left(\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 0^{T} & 1+L_{11} & L_{12} \\ 0^{T} & L_{21} & L_{22} \end{bmatrix}\right) = r\left(\begin{bmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 \\ 1^{T} & L_{11} & L_{12} \\ 0^{T} & L_{21} & L_{22} \end{bmatrix}\right)$$
$$= r\left(\begin{bmatrix} 1 & |A(G)[\{v\}, V(G) \setminus X \setminus \{v\}]] \\ \overline{A(G)[X, \{v\}]} | A(G)[X, V(G) \setminus X \setminus \{v\}]} \end{bmatrix}\right).$$

Hence

$$\rho_{G/v}(X) = r\left(\left[\begin{array}{c|c} 1 & A(G)[\{v\}, (V(G) \setminus X) \setminus \{v\}] \\ \hline A(G)[X, \{v\}] & A(G)[X, (V(G) \setminus X) \setminus \{v\}] \end{array}\right) - 1,$$

as desired.

Now from Lemmas 3.2.1 and 4.1.3 one can obtain the following result analogous to the Bixby-Coullard Inequality; see Oxley [17, Lemma 8.7.1].

Lemma 4.1.4 (Oum [16]). Let v be a vertex in a simple graph G. If (C_1, C_2) and (D_1, D_2) are partitions of $V(G) \setminus v$, then the following inequalities hold:

$$\rho_{G \setminus v}(C_1) + \rho_{G/v}(D_1) \ge \rho_G(C_1 \cap D_1) + \rho_G(C_2 \cap D_2) - 1,
\rho_{G \setminus v}(C_1) + \rho_{G \circ v}(D_1) \ge \rho_G(C_1 \cap D_1) + \rho_G(C_2 \cap D_2) - 1, and
\rho_{G/v}(C_1) + \rho_{G \circ v}(D_1) \ge \rho_G(C_1 \cap D_1) + \rho_G(C_2 \cap D_2) - 1.$$

Proof. (due to Oum in [16]) First observe that as $G \circ v = G * w * v * w$ for some neighbour w of v that

$$\rho_{G/v}(C_1) + \rho_{G \circ v}(D_1) = \rho_{(G * v) \sim v}(C_1) + \rho_{(G * v) \circ v}(D_1)$$

and

$$\rho_{G \setminus v}(C_1) + \rho_{G \circ v}(D_1) = \rho_{(G * w) \setminus v}(C_1) + \rho_{(G * w)/v}(D_1).$$

Hence we only need to show that

$$\rho_{G \setminus v}(C_1) + \rho_{G/v}(D_1) \ge \rho_G(C_1 \cap D_1) + \rho_G(C_2 \cap D_2) - 1.$$

Let A = A(G). Note that for a partition (X, Y) of $V(G) \setminus v$ that:

$$\left[\frac{0 \quad |A[\{v\}, C_2]}{A[C_1, \{v\}] \mid A[C_1, C_2]}\right] = A[X \cup \{v\}, Y \cup \{v\}],$$

Hence,

$$\rho_{G \smallsetminus v}(C_1) + \rho_{G \circ v}(D_1) = r(A[C_1, C_2]) + r(A[D_1 \cup v, D_2 \cup v]) - 1$$

$$\geq r(A[C_1 \cap D_1, C_2 \cup D_2 \cup v]) + r(A[C_1 \cup C_2 \cup v, C_2 \cap D_2]) - 1$$

$$= \rho_G(C_1 \cap D_1) + \rho_G(C_2 \cap D_2) - 1.$$

4.2 Vertex Minors and Splits

Using Lemma 4.1.4 we obtain the following result which is analogous to Lemma 8.7.3 in [17]. We first introduce the analogue of internally 3-connected graphs for primality; a graph is *internally prime* if the only splits it has are of the form (A, B) where min $(|A|, |B|) \leq 2$.

Lemma 4.2.1. Let G be a prime graph, and $v \in V(G)$. Then two of $G \setminus v$, $G \circ v$, and G/v are internally prime.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. Then two of $G \setminus v$, G/v, and $G \circ v$ are not internally prime. By possibly replacing G by G * w for some neighbour w of v we may assume that neither $G \setminus v$ nor G/v are internally prime. Hence we have splits (C_1, C_2) and (D_1, D_2) of $G \setminus v$ and G/v respectively with $|C_i| \geq 3$, and $|D_i| \geq 3$. Now, by Lemma 4.1.4,

$$2 = \rho_{G \setminus v}(C_1) + \rho_{G/v}(D_1) \ge \rho_G(C_1 \cap D_1) + \rho_G(C_2 \cap D_2) - 1,$$



Figure 4.1: Small Splits in a Connected Graph

hence either $\rho_G(C_1 \cap D_1) \leq 1$ or $\rho_G(C_2 \cap D_2) \leq 1$. However, as G is prime, we have that one of $C_1 \cap D_1$, $D_2 \cup C_2 \cup \{v\}$, $C_2 \cap D_2$, or $C_1 \cup D_1 \cup \{v\}$ has size at most one. As $|C_i| \geq 3$, and $|D_i| \geq 3$, we have that either $C_1 \cap D_1$ or $C_2 \cap D_2$ has at most one vertex. Symmetrically,

$$2 = \rho_{G \setminus v}(C_1) + \rho_{G/v}(D_2) \ge \rho_G(C_1 \cap D_2) + \rho_G(C_2 \cap D_1) - 1$$

so either $C_1 \cap D_2$ or $C_2 \cap D_1$ has at most one vertex. In any case, one of C_1, C_2, D_1, D_2 has at most two vertices, a contradiction, as desired.

The following is a useful observation on small splits in a connected graph.

Lemma 4.2.2. Let G be a connected graph, $(\{u, w\}, V(G) \setminus \{u, w\})$ be a split. Then either

- $\deg(u) = 1$, and u is adjacent to w, or
- $\deg(w) = 1$, and u is adjacent to w, or
- $N(u) \cap (V(G) \setminus \{u, w\}) = N(w) \cap (V(G) \setminus \{u, w\}).$

Proof. Direct from the definition of a split; see Figure 4.1.

Lemma 4.2.3. Let v be a vertex in a simple prime graph G. If $G \\ v$ is internally prime with a split $(\{u, w\}, V(G) \\ \{u, v, w\})$, then there exists a graph G' that is locally equivalent to G or G * u such that

• u has degree one in $G' \smallsetminus v$, and

• u is adjacent to v in G'.

Proof. Let $(\{u, w\}, B)$ be a split of $G \\ v$. By Lemma 4.2.2 either u or w has degree 1 in $G \\ v$ or $N_{G\setminus v}(u) \cap B = N_{G\setminus v}(w) \cap B$. If either u or w has degree one in $G \\ v$ we're done by taking G' = G, so both u and w have degree at least two in $G \\ v$, and that $N_{G\setminus v}(u) \cap B = N_{G\setminus v}(w) \cap B$. Since $(\{u, w\}, B \cup \{v\})$ is not a split of G, we have that exactly one of u or w is adjacent to v in G. We may assume that u is by symmetry.

Furthermore, as $(\{u, v, w\}, B)$ is not a split of G either there exists a vertex $x \in (N_G(w) \cap B) \setminus N_G(v)$ or $N_G(w) \cap B \subseteq N_G(v) \cap B$.

If the former we may possibly locally complement at x to obtain a graph G'' where u is adjacent to w.

If the latter if w is not adjacent to u we will locally complement at u to obtain a graph where there is a vertex in N(w) not in N(v). Now we may possibly locally complement at x to obtain a graph G'' where u is adjacent to w. Note that w is not adjacent to v in G'', as we only complemented if w was not adjacent to u.

In any case we obtain a graph where u is adjacent to w. Finally, by locally complementing at w in G'' we get a graph G' where:

- G' is locally equivalent to G.
- u has degree one in $G' \smallsetminus v$, and,
- u is adjacent to v in G',

as desired.

4.3 Building a Prime Graph

We would like to understand the structure of prime graphs under taking vertex minors. To that end, we need one technical definition which captures the structure that one has when one cannot remove a vertex up to local equivalence and stay prime. Consider a graph of the form depicted in Figure 4.2; note that none of $G \\ c_1, G \\ c_1, G \\ c_1, and G/c_1$ is prime. As it turns out, Figure 4.2 captures up to local equivalence when a vertex cannot be removed while preserving primality. Hence we say an *envelope* of a graph G is a five-tuple $(c_1, c_2, f_3, f_2, f_1)$ such that $N(c_1) = \{c_2, f_1\}, N(c_2) = \{c_1, f_3\}$, and $N(f_2) = \{f_1, f_3\}$. We say c_1 and c_2 are



Figure 4.2: An Envelope

the corners of the envelope and f_1 , f_2 , and f_3 are the flaps of the envelope, with f_2 being the center flap of the envelope.

Note that a 1-separation (A, B) with common vertex v induces a split $(A \setminus \{v\}, B)$, and hence prime graphs have no cut vertices.

Let v be a vertex in a simple graph G. We say that G' is *locally v-equivalent* to G if G' can be obtained from G by a sequence of local complementations on vertices in $V(G) \setminus (\{v\} \cup N(v))$. Note that if G' and G are locally v-equivalent graphs then $G \Box v$ is locally equivalent to $G' \Box v$ for $\Box \in \{\langle , \circ, \rangle\}$; this follows immediately from Lemma 3.1.2(1).

The following is a new generalization of Lemma 4.0.1. Note that we have used the fact that if a vertex v is not removable in a way that preserves primality then it is in an envelope extensively in Chapter 2. We will see later that three triangles of R that share a common edge corresponds to an envelope of IG(R, T).

Lemma 4.3.1. Let v be a vertex in a prime graph G. If neither $G \\ v$, $G \\ \circ v$, nor G/v are prime, then v is a corner of some envelope F, up to local equivalence.

Proof. From Lemma 4.2.1 we may assume without loss of generality that $G \\ v$ is internally prime. If $G \\ v$ is prime then we are done. Now if $G \\ v$ is not prime there are two vertices u and w such that $(\{u, w\}, V(G) \\ \{u, w\})$ is a split in $G \\ v$. By Lemma 4.2.3 we have a graph H locally equivalent to G such that v is adjacent to u, and $\deg_H(u) = 2$.

Consider now H * v * u * v = H'. Note that v has degree two in H', and is only adjacent to u and w. By Lemma 4.2.1 at least one of $H' \\ v = H/v$ or $H' \circ v = H \circ v * u$ is internally prime. Let H'' = H' if $H' \\ v$ is internally prime and let H'' = H' * v if $H \circ v$ is internally prime. Note that $H'' \\ v$ is locally equivalent to one of $H' \\ v$ or $H' \circ v$ and $H'' \circ v$ is locally equivalent to the other. By the following claim we may assume that there is no edge between u and w in H'' and $H'' \\ v$. Note that $H'' \\ v$ is internally prime.

Claim 4.3.2. There exists a graph H''' locally v-equivalent to H'' where u is not adjacent to w.

Proof. As H''' is prime, it has no cut vertices, as a cut vertex induces a split of H'''. Proceed by induction on the length n of the shortest path $P = ux_1x_2...x_nw$ in H'' avoiding v and the possible $\{u, w\}$ edge. If n = 1 we may locally complement by x_1 . Inductively, locally complement by x_1 and proceed by induction on the new shortest path $P' = ux_2...x_nw$. \Box

Now if $H'' \\ v$ is prime we are done. Otherwise, there is a nontrivial split (A, B) of $H'' \\ v$, with |A| = 2, $|B| \ge 2$. As H'' is prime exactly one of $u, w \in A$. Without loss of generality we may assume that $u \in A$. Let z be the other vertex in A. By Lemma 4.2.3 we have that there is some graph H''' in which u has degree two and is only adjacent to z and v, with H''' locally equivalent to H''. Note that $H''' \\ v$ is internally prime.

Now consider H'''/v; this graph has the same edge set as $H''' \setminus v$ with the single difference being that u is now adjacent to w in H'''/v.

Claim 4.3.3. The graph H'''/v is internally prime.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction; let (A, B) be a split with $|A| \ge 3, |B| \ge 3$. As $H''' \smallsetminus v$ is internally prime, we know that the edge $\{u, w\}$ is in $\delta_{H''' \circ v}(A)$. Without loss of generality we may assume that $u \in A$ and $w \in B$. However, u only has degree two, so $\delta(A) \subseteq \delta(u)$.

Moreover, $\delta(A) = \delta(u)$, as otherwise w or z would be a cut vertex. Hence $z \in B$. Let cand d be the two other vertices in A. As v is adjacent to neither c nor d, $N_{H'''ov}(\{c, d\}) = N_{H'''}(c, d)$. Hence $(\{c, d\}, V(H''') \setminus \{c, d\})$ gives a split of H''', a contradiction, as desired.

If $H''' \circ v$ is prime we are done. Otherwise, it remains to show that up to local equivalence, v is a corner of an envelope of G, up to local equivalence.

Claim 4.3.4. There exists an envelope F of H''' such that v is a corner of F.

Proof. From above we know that $H''' \circ v$ is not prime, hence there is a nontrivial split (A, B) of $H''' \circ v$, with $|A| = 2, |B| \ge 2$. As H''' is prime, at least one of u, w is in A. As G''' is prime we know that $N_{H'''}(w) \setminus v$ is nonempty, and hence we cannot have both u, w in A.

Suppose for a contradiction that $w \in A$. Hence the edge $\{u, w\}$ in $\delta(H''' \circ v)(A)$ and therefore so is the edge $\{u, z\}$. Hence $z \in A$. However, w and z have distinct neighbour sets in $H''' \circ v$, as H''' is prime. Hence (A, B) is not a split of $H''' \circ v$, a contradiction, as desired.

Hence $u \in A$; let a be the other vertex in S. Now a is adjacent only to u and w, hence $\{w, u, v, a, z\}$ forms an envelope in H''', with w, a, z as the flap, and u, v as the corners. \Box

Hence v is, up to local equivalence, a corner of some envelope F of G, as desired. \Box

Note that the center flap in an envelope can be removed in two ways preserving primality unless G is locally equivalent to C_5 .

Lemma 4.3.5. Suppose $(c_1, c_2, f_3, f_2, f_1)$ is an envelope of a simple graph G. If G is not locally equivalent to C_5 , then both $G \setminus f_2$ and G/f_2 are prime.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. Then either $G \setminus f_2$ or G/f_2 has a split (A, B) with $|A| \geq 2$ and $|B| \geq 2$. Note that these two graphs are otherwise identical except for the presence of the $\{f_1, f_3\}$ edge. By possibly taking $G = G * f_2$ we will assume that $\{f_1, f_3\}$ is not an edge in $G \setminus f_2$ and is an edge in G/f_2 . We take these two cases in turn.

Case 1: $G \\ f_2$ is not prime. As G is prime, f_1 and f_3 are in different parts of the partition (A, B). We may assume that $f_1 \\\in A$ and $f_3 \\\in B$. Now $\{f_1, c_1, c_2, f_3\}$ is a path that crosses the split. Hence one of $\{f_1, c_1\}, \{c_1, c_2\}, \text{ or } \{c_2, f_3\}$ is in $\delta(A)$.

Case 1.1: $\{f_1, c_1\}$ is in $\delta(A)$. Hence $c_1 \in B$. Now every other vertex in A that is not f_1 either has no neighbours in B or is adjacent to c_1 . Note that the only other vertex adjacent to c_1 is c_2 . Now $c_2 \notin A$ as $f_3 \in B$ and f_1 is not adjacent to f_3 . Hence every other vertex in A has no neighbours in B. Hence f_1 is a cut-vertex in $G \setminus f_2$. As $N_G(f_2) \cap A = \{f_1\}$, f_1 is a cut vertex in G, a contradiction, as desired.

Case 1.2: $\{c_1, c_2\}$ is in $\delta(A)$. As $\{f_1, c_1\} \notin \delta(A)$, $c_1 \in A$, and $c_2 \in B$. Now there is no other vertex in A other than c_1 with a neighbour in B, and similarly there is no other vertex in B other than c_2 with a neighbour in A. Hence f_1 and f_3 are cut vertices unless |A| = 2 and |B| = 2. Now f_1 and f_3 are not cut vertices as they would lift to cut vertices in G,

as $N_G(f_2) = \{f_1, f_3\}$. Hence |A| = 2, and |B| = 2. Hence $A = \{f_1, c_1\}$ and $B = \{f_3, c_2\}$. Hence $G \setminus v$ is a path on four vertices and thus G is a five-cycle, as desired.

Case 1.3: $\{c_2, f_3\}$ is in $\delta(A)$. This case is symmetric to Case 1.1.

Case 2: G/f_2 is not prime. As G is prime, f_1 and f_3 are in different parts of the partition (A, B). We may assume that $f_1 \in A$ and $f_3 \in B$. If $c_1 \in A$, then $c_2 \in A$, as f_1 is not adjacent to c_2 , but is adjacent to f_3 . Now every other vertex in B that is not f_3 has no neighbours in A, as no other vertex except c_1 and f_3 is adjacent to c_2 . Hence f_3 is a cut vertex in G/f_2 , and hence in G, a contradiction.

Hence $c_1 \in B$. By a symmetric argument, $c_2 \in A$. Now every other vertex in A that is not f_1 has no neighbours in B, and likewise every other vertex in B that is not f_3 has no neighbours in A, as $N_{G/f_2}(c_1) = \{c_2, f_1\}$ and $N_{G/f_2}(c_2) = \{f_3, c_1\}$. Hence if $|A| \ge 3$ or $|B| \ge 3$, f_1 or f_3 is a cut-vertex of G/f_2 , and hence G as $N_G(f_2) = \{f_1, f_3\}$. Hence |A| = |B| = 2 and $G/f_2 = C_4$, and hence $G = C_5$.

Futhermore, all three ways of removing a corner of an envelope of a prime give a graph that is internally prime.

Lemma 4.3.6. Suppose $(c_1, c_2, f_3, f_2, f_1)$ is an envelope of a simple graph G. Then all three ways of removing c_1 and c_2 up to local equivalence are internally prime.

Proof. Suppose not. As $G \circ c_1$ is isomorphic to $G \smallsetminus c_2 * f_2$, we need only consider $G \backsim c_1$ and G/c_1 . We take these two cases in turn.

Case 1: $G \\ c_1$ is not internally prime. Let (A, B) be a split with $|A| \geq 3$ and $|B| \geq 3$. As G is prime, we have that f_1 and c_2 are in different parts of the partition (A, B). Hence we may assume without loss of generality that $f_1 \in A$ and $c_2 \in B$. Now $f_3 \in B$ as if $f_3 \in A$ then no other vertex is in B as every vertex in B would have to have f_3 as its sole neighbour, contradicting the fact that G was prime. Now $f_2 \in A$, as if $f_2 \in B$ then f_1 would be adjacent to c_2 , which is not the case. Consider the third vertex in B. Such a third vertex would be adjacent to f_2 , as $f_2 \in A$ is adjacent to $f_3 \in B$. However, f_2 has no other neighbours except f_1 and f_3 , a contradiction, as desired.

Case 2: G/c_1 is not internally prime. Let (A, B) be a split with $|A| \ge 3$ and $|B| \ge 3$. As G is prime, we have that f_1 and c_2 are in different parts of the partition (A, B). Hence we may assume without loss of generality that $f_1 \in A$ and $c_2 \in B$. By locally complementing at f_2 we may assume that f_3 is not adjacent to f_1 .

Claim 4.3.7. $f_3 \in A$.

Proof. Suppose not. Then $f_2 \in B$ as $c_2 \in B$ is not adjacent to f_2 but f_3 is. Now every vertex in A is either adjacent to nothing in B or has c_2 and f_2 as neighbours, as $f_1 \in A$ is has c_2 and f_2 as neighbours. As $f_3 \in B$, no other vertex in A other than f_1 is adjacent to anything in B. Hence f_1 is a cut vertex of G/c_1 . As c_1 is only adjacent to f_1 and c_2 , f_1 is a cut vertex of G, contradicting the fact that G is prime, as desired.

Now every other vertex in B that is not c_2 is either adjacent to exactly f_1 and f_3 or it is not adjacent to anything in A. As G is prime, f_2 is the only other vertex in B adjacent to exactly f_1 and f_3 . Hence every other vertex in B that is neither f_2 nor c_2 is isolated in G/c_1 . As c_1 is only adjacent to f_1 and c_2 in G, those vertices are isolated in G. Hence B contains no other vertices except c_1 and possibly f_2 , contradicting the assumption that $|B| \geq 3$.

As a corollary we obtain the following result which generalizes Bouchet's decomposition theorem for prime graphs [3].

Corollary 4.3.8. Let G be a prime graph that is not locally equivalent to C_5 . Then for each vertex v in G, either

- one of $G \smallsetminus v$, $G \circ v$, or G/v is prime, or
- each of $G \setminus v$, $G \circ v$, and G/v is internally prime, and there is a vertex $w \in V(G)$ such that two of $G \setminus w$, $G \circ w$, and G/w are prime.

4.4 Internally Six-Edge Connected Tour Graphs

We finish this chapter with a few remarks on how primality relates to connectivity in the tour graph. Recall that a four-regular graph is *weakly* six-edge-connected if it is four-edge connected and every cut on four edges partitions the graph into two components, one of which has size at most two.

Lemma 4.4.1. Let R be a tour graph for a circle graph G. If G is prime, then R is internally six-edge-connected. Similarly, if G is internally prime, then R is weakly six-edge-connected.

Proof. We will prove that if G is prime then R is internally six-edge-connected; the proof is analogous for internal primality. Suppose R is not internally six-edge-connected. Then

there is a four-edge cut $\{e, f, g, h\}$ of R that partitions the vertices of R into two sets A and B with $|A|, |B| \ge 2$. Let T be the tour of R corresponding to C. We may assume without loss of generality by possibly renaming edges and reversing T that T starts in A, goes through e then f then g then h. Hence the chord diagram C is of the form shown in Figure 4.3. Therefore we have that (A, B) is a split of G, as desired.

Lemma 4.4.2 (Bouchet [1]). Let R be a tour graph for a circle graph G. If R is internally six-edge-connected, then G is prime.

Proof. Suppose for a contradiction that G is not prime. We may assume without loss of generality that G is connected as the result follows directly if G is disconnected. Then there is some split (A, B) of G with $|A| \ge 2$, and $|B| \ge 2$. Now A and B partition the circumference of C into intervals $(A_i : i \in \mathbb{Z}/2k\mathbb{Z})$ and $(B_j : j \in \mathbb{Z}/2k\mathbb{Z})$ which contain either chords in A or chords in B. We may assume without loss of generality that the intervals appear along the circle in clockwise order starting from A_0, B_0 and ending with A_{2k-1}, B_{2k-1} . Let M(I) denote the set of intervals J such that there is a chord with an end in both I and J.

Claim 4.4.3. If A_j and A_k are in $M(A_i)$ with $j \neq i$ and $k \neq i$, then j = k. Symmetrically, if B_j and B_k are in $M(B_i)$ with $j \neq i$ and $k \neq i$ then j = k.

Proof. Suppose not for a contradiction. We may assume i = 0 by relabeling. Then there is a chord a from A_0 to A_j and a chord a' from A_0 to A_k with 0 < j < k, where < is the natural order over \mathbb{Z} . Now consider a chord b in B_l with $j \leq l \leq k$ that does not have its other end in B_l ; such a chord exists as G is connected. Now b can't cross both a and a', but it must cross one, contradicting the assumption that (A, B) is a split, as desired. \Box

Now since all the A-chords cross all the B-chords, we have that chords with an end in A_i have their other end in either A_i or A_{i+k} and similarly chords in B_i have their other end in either B_i or B_{i+k} . Now if any of the A_i have at least two chords we are done; just take the four arcs of the circle incident to it and the arc A_{i+k} ; this gives a four-edge cut in R. A symmetric argument works if any of the B_i have at least two chords. Otherwise each interval has only one chord end in it. Thus C consists of k chords which each pairwise cross, and hence R is a cycle on at least four vertices in which every edge has been replaced by a parallel pair. Hence R has a four-edge cut with at least two vertices on each side, as desired.

From Lemmas 4.4.1 and 4.4.2 we can obtain an analogue of Lemma 4.3.1 for four-regular tour graphs. We need a few propositions however.



Figure 4.3: R, T, C, and a four-edge cut of R.



Figure 4.4: Edge in Three Triangles.

Lemma 4.4.4. Let G be a prime circle graph and let R be the tour graph for G. If G contains an envelope B = (u, v, x, y, z) where u, v are the corners and y is the middle vertex in the flap of B, then $\{u, v\}$ is an edge contained in three triangles of R.

Conversely, if $\{u, v\}$ is an edge in three triangles of R then G (up to local equivalence) contains an envelope, where the u and v are the corners of that envelope.

Proof. Consider a chord diagram representation C for G. The adjacencies in the envelope show that vertices are traversed in the Euler tour in the cyclic order (y, u, z, v, u, x, v, y, z, x) or its reverse.

Conversely, suppose $\{u, v\}$ is an edge of three triangles of R. Let $\{x, u, v\}$, $\{y, u, v\}$, and $\{z, u, v\}$ be those three triangles, as shown in Figure 4.4.

As R is internally six-edge-connected deleting the edges in $\delta(V(R) \setminus \{u, v, x, y, z\}) \cap (\delta(x) \cup \delta(z))$ does not disconnect the graph. Hence we may find a tour C of R such that the transition from z is from $\{z, u\}$ to $\{z, v\}$ and the transition at x is from $\{u, x\}$ to $\{u, v\}$.

Now \mathcal{C} is of the form $\ldots Q \ldots$, where Q is a tour of those three triangles which starts and ends at y. Hence $\mathcal{C}' = \ldots yuzvuxvy \ldots$ is also a valid tour for R. Therefore from above we have that the circle graph G' corresponding to \mathcal{C}' contains an envelope where the corners are u and v, as desired. \Box

Hence as a consequence of Lemmas 4.3.6, 4.3.5, 4.4.4, 4.4.1, and 4.4.2 we obtain the following versions of Lemmas 4.3.1 and 4.2.1 for four-regular graphs.

Lemma 4.4.5. Let v be a vertex in an internally six-edge connected four-regular graph R. Then two out of the three ways to split off v in R result in weakly-six-edge connected graphs.

Lemma 4.4.6. Let v be a vertex in an internally six-edge connected four-regular graph R. Either there is a way to split off v in R while remaining internally-six-edge connected or v is incident to an edge in three triangles of R.

Moreover, if R is not isomorphic to K_5 , and \triangle_1 , \triangle_2 , and \triangle_3 are three triangles of R that share an edge, then for all i and j in $\{1, 2, 3\}$, there are two ways to split off at the single vertex in $V(\triangle_i) \setminus V(\triangle_i)$ while remaining internally six-edge connected.

We wrap up this chapter with two easy remarks on small, internally six-edge connected graphs.

Lemma 4.4.7. If R is a simple four-regular graph on at most nine vertices, then R is internally six-edge connected if and only if R is K_4 -subgraph-free.

Proof. If R contains a K_4 subgraph H then $|\delta(H)| \leq 4$ as R is four-regular. Conversely, suppose that R contains a cut S with $|S| \leq 4$ which partitions V(R) into two parts (A, B). As R is simple we have that $|A| \geq 4$, $|B| \geq 4$, and hence one of |A|, |B| is exactly four. We may assume without loss of generality that |A| = 4. As R is simple, it follows that $R[A] \cong K_4$, and |S| = 4.

Lemma 4.4.8. The complement of the cube is the only graph on eight vertices that is internally six-edge connected.

Proof. Let R be a simple four-regular graph on eight vertices that is not internally six-edge connected. From Lemma 4.4.7, there is an edge cut S of R with |S| = 4. As R is simple, S partitions V(R) into two parts (A, B) with |A| = |B| = 4, and hence $R[A] \cong R[B] \cong K_4$. Now up to isomorphism there is exactly one way to place the edges in S, hence G is unique, as desired.



Figure 4.5: Complement of the Cube

Chapter 5

Extended Representations

In this section we give a representation, previously presented in a different form by Bouchet in [1] for single vertex extensions of a circle graph G represented by a chord diagram C. When the graph G is prime, we often omit C due to unique representability.

5.1 Extended Chord Diagrams

Recall a hyperchord Σ is an even set of arcs of a chord diagram \mathcal{C} . An arc is even if it is not in the hyperchord, and odd otherwise. An extended chord diagram (\mathcal{C}, Σ) consists of a chord diagram \mathcal{C} and hyperchord Σ of C. An extended circle graph G for an extended chord diagram $\mathrm{IG}(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma)$ is constructed from a circle graph G' of \mathcal{C} by adding a new vertex v for the hyperchord Σ , where v is adjacent to $c \in V(G')$ if and only if c partitions the arcs of Σ into two odd parts. Local complementations on extended circle graphs can be easily described in terms of their extended representations so long as it is not the hyperchord being complemented. That is, two extended chord diagrams $\mathrm{IG}(\mathcal{C}_1, \Sigma_1)$ and $\mathrm{IG}(\mathcal{C}_2, \Sigma_2)$ are locally equivalent if the underlying chord diagrams are and $\Sigma_1 = \Sigma_2$. Now the following lemma gives us a characterization of local equivalence classes of extended chord diagrams.

Lemma 5.1.1. Let $H = IG(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma)$. Let c be any chord of \mathcal{C} . Then $IG(\mathcal{C} * c, \Sigma) = H * c$.

Proof. Fix a chord $c \in C$, and let v be the extension vertex. We present the case when v is adjacent to c; the other case is symmetric. As v is adjacent to c, c partitions the arcs A of C into two parts A_1, A_2 , each containing an odd number of arcs of Σ . Let d be chord in C that is not c; it partitions A into two parts A_3, A_4 . Consider the following two cases.

Case 1: *d* is not adjacent to *c*. We may assume without loss of generality that $A_3 \subset A_1$. Now locally complementing at *c* preserves the partition that *d* induces, as $A_3 \subset A_1$. Hence *d* is adjacent to *v* in H * c if and only if it is adjacent to *v* in *H*, as desired.

Case 2: d is adjacent to c. As d is adjacent to v, $|A_3|$ and $|A_4|$ are odd. As c is adjacent to v, we have that one of $|A_1 \cap A_3|$, $|A_1 \cap A_4|$ is odd, and one of $|A_2 \cap A_3|$, $|A_2 \cap A_4|$ is odd. Without loss of generality we may assume that $|A_1 \cap A_3|$ and $|A_2 \cap A_4|$ is odd. Now locally complementing at c switches the partition that d induces to $((A_2 \cap A_4) \cup (A_1 \cap A_3), (A_2 \cap A_3) \cup (A_1 \cap A_4))$, which has different parity than (A_3, A_4) . Hence d is adjacent to v in H * c if and only if it is not adjacent to v in H, as desired.

Chord deletion also has a straightforward extension to an extended chord diagram; we identify two arcs together preserving parity, so two odd arcs and two even arcs are identified down to a single even arc, and an odd and even arc are identified to a single odd arc.

The following lemma illustrates why extended chord diagrams are useful when working with single vertex extensions of circle graphs.

Lemma 5.1.2 (Bouchet [1]). Let H be a single vertex extension of a circle graph G with some chord diagram C. Then there are $2^{|V(G)|-1}$ unique hyperchords Σ for C such that $IG(C, \Sigma) = H$.

Proof. Let C be the set of chords for C, and fix some chord $c_0 \in C$. Pick an arbitrary end of c_0 to be the *head* of c, and the other end to be the *tail* of c_0 . Now label the chords of C starting at the head c_0 going clockwise by $c_1, c_2, \ldots c_n$ and label the arcs of C by $a_1, a_2, \ldots a_{2n}$ starting at c_0 going clockwise. We denote the *head* of a chord c_i for i > 0 to be the end of a chord c_i first encountered from a clockwise walk from the head of c_0 , and the *tail* of c_i to be the other end.

For each chord c_i define I_i to be the set of arcs a_i with a_i contained in the closed segment defined by a clockwise walk from the head of c_i to the tail of c_i . Observe that the last arc a_{2n} is not contained in any I_i , as it is encountered after the tail of any chord c on a clockwise walk starting at c. Consider the following $|C| \times 2|C|$ matrix A over GF(2), with columns indexed by the arcs a_i and rows indexed by the chords c_i :

$$A_{c_i,a_j} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } c_j \in I_i \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

This matrix has full row rank, as for every chord c_i there is some arc a_k present in I_i but not present in any I_j for j > i; namely the arc which occurs immediately after the head of c_i . Furthermore, as the column $A_{a_{2n}}$ is an all-zeros column, the $(|C|+1) \times 2|C|$ matrix B obtained by adding an all-1's row:

$$B = \left[\frac{\mathbb{1}^T}{A} \right]$$

has full row rank.

Let v be the single vertex in $V(H) \setminus V(G)$. Let b be a column vector indexed by the chords c_i in the following manner:

$$b_{c_i} = \begin{cases} 1, & \text{if } c_i \text{ is adjacent to } v \text{ in } H \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Now consider a solution \overline{x} to the following system of linear equations over GF(2).

$$\begin{bmatrix} \mathbb{1}^T \\ \hline A \end{bmatrix} x = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ \hline b \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.1)

As *B* has full column rank, there exists such a solution \overline{x} . Moreover, the dimension of the solution space is 2n - (n + 1) = n - 1, giving rise to 2^{n-1} possible solutions. Let $\Sigma = \{a_i : \overline{x}_{a_i} = 1\}$. As \overline{x} has even support, $|\Sigma|$ is even. Furthermore, for every chord $c \in C$,

c is adjacent to v if and only if c partitions Σ into two odd parts.

Hence H is an extended circle graph with representation (\mathcal{C}, Σ) as desired.

As the arcs of a chord diagram \mathcal{C} correspond to the edges of its tour graph R, we now explicitly construct a correspondence between signed graphs [10] and hyperchords that was first implicitly introduced by Bouchet in [1]. Recall a signed graph (G, Σ) is a graph Galong with a $\Sigma \subseteq E(G)$. Edges are even if they are not in Σ , odd otherwise. An even signed graph is one where $|\Sigma| \equiv 0 \pmod{2}$. Two signed graphs $(G_1, \Sigma_1 \text{ and } (G_2, \Sigma_2)$ are equivalent if $G_1 = G_2$ and there exists some cut $C \subseteq E(G_1)$ of G_1 with $\Sigma_1 \Delta C = \Sigma_2$.

We first make the following observation:

Lemma 5.1.3. Let $G = IG(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma)$, and let R be the tour graph for C. If S is a cut of R, then $IG(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma \Delta S) = G$

Proof. Fix an Eulerian tour C of C. Let v be the extension vertex of G. Let c be a chord in C. Observe that C decomposes into cC_1cC_2 for closed walks $C_1, C_2 \subseteq C$. Now, v is adjacent to c if and only if $|C_1 \cap \Sigma|$ and $|C_2 \cap \Sigma|$ are odd. As a cut intersects a cycle, and therefore closed walks, in even parity, we have that $|C_1 \cap \Sigma \Delta S|$ and $|C_2 \cap \Sigma \Delta S|$ have the same parity as $|C_1 \cap \Sigma|$ and $|C_2 \cap \Sigma|$, as desired. Hence, by Lemma 5.1.3, for a given extended chord diagram $IG(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma)$, the equivalence class of signed graphs gives rise to a set of solutions of the linear system described in Lemma 5.1.2. As the dimension of the cut-space of G is |V(G)| - 1, there are $2^{|V(G)|-1}$ signed graphs in the equivalence class, so we obtain the following corollary.

Corollary 5.1.4. Let $IG(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma) = H$, and let R be the tour graph for \mathcal{C} . Then $IG(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma') = H$ if and only if $\Sigma \Delta \Sigma'$ is a cut of R.

5.2 Characterizing Obstructions

When a hyperchord Σ has size two, we observe that it is simply a regular chord and the extended chord diagram (\mathcal{C}, Σ) is simply a regular chord diagram. Hence we obtain the following useful lemma as a consequence of Lemma 1.4.3.

Lemma 5.2.1. Let H be a prime single vertex extension of a circle graph with representation $IG(\mathcal{C}, \Sigma)$, and let R be the tour graph of C. Then H is a circle graph if and only (R, Σ) has a signature of size at most 2.

Now the following key observation illustrates why signed graphs are an useful representation for single vertex extensions of circle graphs.

Lemma 5.2.2. Let (R, Σ) be a signed graph. If (R, Σ) has n edge-disjoint odd circuits, then every signature of (R, Σ) has size at least n.

Proof. As odd circuits are invariant under resigning – cuts intersect circuits in even parity, each odd circuit contains at least one odd edge. \Box

Chapter 6

Bouchet's Theorem

We will now prove Bouchet's Theorem by combining the reductions proven in Chapter 5 with the new structural results proven in Chapter 2.

First observe that since W_5 admits an extended representation $(K_5, E(K_5))$, which will always have four odd edges in any signature, and since W_7 and W_7 admit representations (R, Σ) with four odd circuits, by Lemma 5.2.1 we have that neither W_5 , W_7 nor F_7 are circle graphs.

Now let G be an excluded minor; note that it is a prime graph. By Corollary 4.3.8 we have that there exists a vertex v such that one of G/v, $G \circ v$, or $G \setminus v$ is prime. By renaming G we may assume that $G \setminus v$ is prime.

Now $G \\ v$ is a prime circle graph; hence by Lemma 1.4.3 there is an unique tour graph R and tour T such that $IG(R,T) = G \\ v$. Now G admits a extended representation as a signed four-regular tour graph with tour $IG(R, \Sigma, T)$. By Lemma 5.2.1 (R, Σ) cannot be resigned to two odd edges and hence by Lemma 2.1.7 we have that R has an odd- K_5 immersion minor or four edge-disjoint odd circuits.

By Lemma 2.2.19 we have that if R has four-edge-disjoint odd circuits then (R, Σ) admits an $R(F_7)$ or $R(W_7)$ immersion minor. Now $R(F_7)$ is a signed-tour graph representation of F_7 and likewise $R(W_7)$ is a signed-tour graph representation of W_7 . Hence we have that (R, Σ) has a odd- K_5 , $R(F_7)$ or $R(F_7)$ immersion minor. As (R, Σ) is immersionminor-minimal with respect to being internally-six-edge connected and with respect to not having a signature of size two or fewer by Lemma 5.2.1 we have that R is equivalent to odd- K_5 , $R(F_7)$, or $R(W_7)$.

Now odd- K_5 is a signed-tour-graph representation of W_5 , and likewise $R(F_7)$ for F_7 and $R(W_7)$ for W_7 . Hence we have that G is either W_5 , W_7 , or F_7 .

Hence the set of excluded minors for the class of circle graphs is exactly $\{W_5, W_7, F_7\}$, as desired.

References

- [1] A. Bouchet. Circle graph obstructions. J. Combin. Theory, Ser. B 60.1 (Jan. 1994), pp. 107-144. ISSN: 0095-8956. DOI: 10.1006/jctb.1994.1008. URL: http://dx. doi.org/10.1006/jctb.1994.1008.
- [2] A. Bouchet. Graphic presentations of isotropic systems. J. Combin. Theory, Ser. B 45.1 (1988), pp. 58-76. ISSN: 0095-8956. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0095-8956(88)90055-X. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/009589568890055X.
- [3] A. Bouchet. Reducing prime graphs and recognizing circle graphs. Combinatorica 7.3 (1987), pp. 243-254. ISSN: 1439-6912. DOI: 10.1007/BF02579301. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF02579301.
- [4] H. Choi et al. Chi-boundedness of graph classes excluding wheel vertex-minors. *Electron. Notes Discrete Math* 61 (2017). The European Conference on Combinatorics, Graph Theory and Applications (EUROCOMB'17), pp. 247-253. ISSN: 1571-0653. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.endm.2017.06.045. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1571065317301300.
- W. H. Cunningham. Decomposition of Directed Graphs. SIAM Journal on Algebraic Discrete Methods 3.2 (1982), pp. 214-228. DOI: 10.1137/0603021. eprint: http: //dx.doi.org/10.1137/0603021. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1137/0603021.
- [6] Z. Dvořák and D. Král. Classes of graphs with small rank decompositions are chibounded. *European Journal of Combinatorics* 33.4 (2012), pp. 679–683. ISSN: 0195-6698. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ejc.2011.12.005. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0195669811002319.
- H. de Fraysseix. Local complementation and interlacement graphs. Discrete Math 33.1 (1981), pp. 29–35. DOI: 10.1016/0012-365X(81)90255-7. URL: http://dx. doi.org/10.1016/0012-365X(81)90255-7.
- C. P. Gabor, K. J. Supowit, and W. Hsu. Recognizing circle graphs in polynomial time. J. ACM 36.3 (July 1989), pp. 435–473. ISSN: 0004-5411. DOI: 10.1145/65950.
 65951. URL: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/65950.65951.
- [9] J. Geelen and S. Oum. Circle graph obstructions under pivoting. J. Graph Theory 61.1 (2009), pp. 1–11. ISSN: 1097-0118. DOI: 10.1002/jgt.20363. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jgt.20363.
- [10] A. M. H. Gerards. On Tutte's Characterization of graphic matroids a graphic proof. J. Graph Theory 20.3 (1995), pp. 351–359. ISSN: 1097-0118. DOI: 10.1002/jgt.3190200311. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jgt.3190200311.
- [11] A. Gyárfás. On the chromatic number of multiple interval graphs and overlap graphs. Discrete Math 55.2 (1985), pp. 161–166. ISSN: 0012-365X. DOI: http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/0012-365X(85)90044-5. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/0012365X85900445.
- F. Harary. On the notion of balance of a signed graph. Michigan Math. J. 2.2 (1953), pp. 143-146. DOI: 10.1307/mmj/1028989917. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1307/ mmj/1028989917.
- [13] A. Kotzig. Eulerian lines in finite 4-valent graphs and their transformations. *Theory* of Graphs (1968), pp. 219–230.
- [14] A. Kotzig. Quelques remarques sur les transformations κ . 1977.
- [15] W. Naji. "Graphes des cordes: une caractérisation et ses applications". Université : Université scientifique et médicale de Grenoble. Habilitation à diriger des recherches. Université Joseph-Fourier - Grenoble I, May 1985. URL: https://tel.archivesouvertes.fr/tel-00315395.
- [16] S. Oum. Rank-width and vertex-minors. J. Combin. Theory, Ser. B 95.1 (2005), pp. 79–100. ISSN: 0095-8956. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jctb. 2005.03.003. URL: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0095895605000389.
- [17] J. Oxley. *Matroid Theory*. 2nd ed. Oxford University Press, 2011.
- [18] K. Truemper. Matroid Decomposition: Revised Edition. Revised. Leibniz Company, 2016. ISBN: 9780966355420. URL: https://books.google.ca/books?id= f4cnMQAACAAJ.

M. Van den Nest, J. Dehaene, and B. De Moor. Graphical description of the action of local Clifford transformations on graph states. *Phys. Rev. A* 69 (2 Feb. 2004), p. 022316. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevA.69.022316. URL: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevA.69.022316.